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Hawthorn Resources Limited 
Chairman’s Report 

 

 

 
 
Dear Shareholder 
 
This is the first full year of reporting to shareholders following the successful implementation of the Schemes of 
Arrangement between the Company and the security holders of Ellendale Resources NL (“Ellendale”) as 
completed on 10 June 2008 with the issue by the Company of the 654,135,744 ‘Scheme’ shares. 
 
Arising from the merger of the Company and Ellendale, Hawthorn Resources Limited (“Hawthorn”) is now an 
Australian diversified base metals, including iron ore, and gold explorer with strategic and significant tenement 
holdings throughout the Eastern Goldfields of Western Australia, South Australia and Queensland. The 
combined entity now has a strong portfolio of managed and joint venture projects through Hawthorn itself and 
its subsidiary companies Ellendale and Northern Resources Australia Pty Ltd. 
 
Since the end of the FY 2009 and to ensure that your Company is able to continue its measured and well 
targeted exploration activities a Share Purchase Plan offering to shareholders was established in August and 
resulted in strong shareholder support that saw the raising of $2.23 million in new equity capital. 
 
Shareholders are reminded that the Company has in place a facility whereby shareholders can register to 
receive electronic notification of announcements. 
 
Exploration Activities 
 
Your directors consider that the exploration work conducted in the FY June 2009 has been most positive and 
that the Company has achieved good value for the exploration dollars expended in the period. 
 
During the year, the Hawthorn Resources exploration effort was primarily focussed on its highly prospective Mt 
Bevan Iron Ore Project in Western Australia, however some significant exploration has been carried out within 
the Company’s extensive gold focussed tenements in the South Laverton Zone of Western Australia. Our joint 
venture partners (including ABM Minerals, Thundelarra, Quantum Resources and Newmont Australia) have 
continued exploration on our behalf on a number of projects, primarily focussed in Western Australia 
 
Since the merger with the Ellendale group the Company has accelerated the exploration programme for iron 
ore in the Mt Bevan Project in Western Australia and currently in the Eastern Goldfields areas. Details of the 
exploration programmes and their results can be found in the following Exploration Report and the Quarterly 
Activity Reports as posted to the Company’s website at www.hawthornresources.com 
 
 

 
 
 
MARK KERR 
Chairman 
Melbourne, 26 October 2009 
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INTRODUCTION 
 
The Hawthorn Resources Limited group of companies (the “Company”, “Hawthorn” or “Hawthorn Resources”) 
is an Australian diversified base metal and gold explorer with significant strategic tenement holdings and joint 
ventures throughout the Eastern Goldfields of Western Australia, South Australia and Queensland.  
 
During the 2008-2009 year, Hawthorn Resources has exploration effort has been primarily focussed on its 
highly prospective Mt Bevan Iron Ore Project in Western Australia, however some significant exploration has 
been carried out within its extensive gold focussed tenements in the South Laverton Zone of Western Australia. 
Our joint venture partners (including ABM Minerals, Thundelarra, Quantum Resources and Newmont Australia) 
have continued exploration on our behalf on a number of projects, primarily focussed in Western Australia.  
 
OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
Mt. Bevan Iron Ore Project, Western Australia 
 

• Initial RC Drilling campaign intersects high grade haematite mineralisation with intercepts to 40 metres 
@ 61.7% Fe in the Mt Mason North Area 

• Strike extensive magnetite footwall mineralisation intersected – testwork indicates that a high grade  
and quality beneficiated product can be produced 

• Follow-up RC drilling extends Mt Mason North haematite mineralisation and identifies a second 
haematite rich horizon 

• Exploration in the northern half of the project area identifies further targets for drill testing.   
 
South Laverton Exploration, Western Australia  
 

• Soil sampling and RAB drilling programs targeting gold mineralisation throughout the South Laverton 
Exploration Zone continue. 

• Strongly anomalous gold mineralisation identified in soils in the Yundamindera and Triumph Project 
areas associated with syenite intrusives  

• Existing gold mineralisation re-assessed in the Trouser Legs Joint Venture area, focussed on the 
potential to mine shallow near surface oxide gold mineralisation. RAB drilling identifies new targets of 
good gold grade in the Joint Venture area. 

 
PROJECT OUTLINES 

 
Mount Bevan Project – Western Australia  
(Hawthorn Resources 100%)   
 
The Mount Bevan Project on Exploration Licence 29/510 is located approximately 100 km west of Leonora in 
the central Yilgarn region of Western Australia. 
 
The tenement covers a sequence of Banded Iron Formation (BIF) units interbedded with carbonaceous shales, 
mafic and ultramafic lavas and sills, fine shales, sandstone and other sedimentary units that dip shallow-
moderately (20 – 50%) towards the north east. Three substantial BIF horizons have been identified within the 
tenement to date that extend in a north-northwest orientation throughout the entire length of the tenement; a 
strike distance of more than 25 kilometres.  
 
Exploration continued during the year with the completion of an extensive ground gravity survey and two 
completed phases of RC drilling. Subsequent to year end bulk samples were collected of a flat-lying, near 
surface layer of pisolite rich laterite, possibly associated with a palaeo-channel, to test its ability to produce a 
beneficiated product and a major sampling program was carried out in the lightly explored northern half of the 
tenement.   
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The initial RC drilling program intersected high grade haematite mineralisation at shallow depths with reported 
intercepts including: 
 

Drillhole From To Interval Fe % SiO2%  Al2O3 % P % S % LOI 

MNC004 16 27 11 53.4% 4.9 6.4 0.035 0.062 10.61 
MNC004 37 54 17 57.2% 13.6 0.9 0.119 0.001 3.28 

incl 43 54 11 60.4% 9.5 1.0 0.102 0.001 2.87 
MNC005 48 88 40 61.7% 6.5 1.9 0.078 0.005 2.87 
MNC005 97 100* 3 58.7% 12.2 1.7 0.063 0.000 1.78 
MNC006 59 83 24 58.2% 11.1 2.1 0.052 0.007 3.25 
MNC006 84 92 8 62.3% 6.9 1.1 0.084 0.021 2.59 
MNC016 43 60 17 57.0% 14.8 1.4 0.061 0.002 1.85 

 
These intercepts are believed to represent the strike continuation of the Mt Mason iron ore resource of 
neighbouring ASX-listed Company Jupiter Mines Limited (“Jupiter”), which was expanded and updated to 5.75 
Mt @ 59.9% Fe on Jupiter’s adjoining tenement during the year.    
 
During the drilling program a thick sequence of magnetite enriched iron formation and greenstones was 
intersected in sections underlying the reported haematite mineralisation. This shallow easterly dipping, 
extensive unit has also been intercepted in most sections along at least 5.5 kilometres of strike with reported 
results of between 30 and 45 metres true thickness and grading 38 – 51% Fe.  Initial Davis Tube Recovery 
testwork results from holes tested along the 5.5 kilometres of strike length were reported as: 
 

Drillhole From To Head 
Fe(tot)

% 

Recovered 
Fe Conc. % 

SiO2
%  

Al2O3 
% 

P    
% 

LOI DTR 
% 

MNC004 66 74 41.3% 69.4% 1.52 0.03 0.016 -1.11 19.3 
MNC011 35 44 37.3% 69.6% 1.60 0.03 0.015 -1.37 18.0 
MNC039 30 39 39.7% 69.4% 1.61 0.02 0.016 -1.10 12.2 
MNC048 37 45 40.0% 69.5% 1.43 0.03 0.015 -1.12 15.6 
MNC060 37 44 37.5% 67.9% 3.20 0.05 0.013 -0.53 11.3 
MNC065 45 53 36.7% 59.7% 16.1 0.04 0.003 -1.51 26.8 
MNC068 59 66 38.7% 70.4% 1.24 0.02 0.009 -2.14 24.2 

 
These results are considered encouraging as the concentrate produced is of excellent Fe grade and mostly free 
of deleterious elements silica, alumina and phosphorus. Recovery percentages are lower than expected, 
possibly due to strong weathering in the samples submitted, however these results indicate the potential for a 
very large magnetite resource within the project area. 
 
Follow-up RC drilling program extended the interpreted extent of the Mt Mason iron mineralisation on 
Hawthorn’s tenement with results including:  
 

Drillhole From To Interval Fe % SiO2%  Al2O3 
% 

P % LOI 

MNC007B 68 84 16 53.6% 19.9 1.3 0.031 2.09 
 126 136 10 54.3% 18.2 0.9 0.130 -0.63 

MNC073 78 106 28 57.9% 9.8 2.8 0.096 4.07 
 112 118 6 57.2% 12.8 1.7 0.073 3.30 

MNC077 84 96 12 57.1% 15.4 0.9 0.015 1.69 
 102 108 6 56.0% 16.3 1.1 0.230 2.25 
 128 138 10 58.8% 13.1 0.8 0.050 0.69 
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In addition a newly identified sub-outcropping horizon of haematite mineralisation in excess of 5.0 Kilometres 
north of the known Mt Mason mineralisation was drill tested. The zone, interpreted to extend for over 2.8 
kilometres of strike length, was only tested by several shallow RC holes in positions accessible from existing 
tracks only. 
 
Most holes from this program intersected the target haematite rich iron formation horizon with anomalous 
results recovered as below.     
 

Drillhole From To Interval Fe % SiO2%  Al2O3 
% 

P % LOI 

MBC910 6 17 11 50.0% 12.0 8.3 0.022 7.41 
MBC911 18 26 8 56.0% 8.7 4.1 0.023 6.60 
MBC915 18 24 6 52.2% 16.7 2.8 0.010 5.39 

 
The company is investigating the extent to which simple dry screening of this extensive, weathered, near 
surface haematite rich material will further upgrade this zone to a shipping product.  
 
Additionally during both phases of RC drilling flat lying zones of haematite and goethite have been intersected 
in a 10-15 metre thick, pervasive layer above the primary, high grade haematite mineralisation at Mt Mason, in 
discrete locations above the primary magnetite rich mineralised horizon and in palaeo-channel type positions 
throughout the tenement area. These flat-lying zones are believed to be similar to channel iron deposits of the 
Pilbara and may represent a near surface resource of iron ore fines that can be further upgraded by simple dry 
screening.  
 
Bulk samples of RC chips from this layer have been submitted for beneficiation testwork. If this material can be 
simply upgraded to a saleable iron ore product it may significantly improve the economic viability of future 
mining operations in the district. At Mt Mason, in particular, the layer would require excavation prior to 
exploitation of the primary haematite mineralisation in any mining scenario – adding significant resource 
tonnage and reducing overall mining costs.   
 
Subsequent to year end Hawthorn announced the result of ongoing mapping and rock chip sampling in the 
northern half of the tenement area. The results of this sampling program have highlighted new target zones for 
upcoming drilling programs.  
 
Hawthorn continues to be encouraged by the results of exploration programs during the year as they have 
clearly demonstrated the continuity of the known Mt Mason orebody into Hawthorn’s tenement package. The 
potential viability of this orebody has been enhanced and it is the largest haematite mineralised body currently 
identified in the Central Yilgarn to date. The tenements remain relatively lightly explored and possible further 
discoveries of high grade haematite mineralisation remain to be identified. The long term potential of the large 
volume of valuable magnetite mineralisation continues to be investigated.   
 
Trouser Legs Project – Western Australia 
Trouser Legs Joint Venture (Hawthorn Resources 70%, Gel Resources 30%) incorporating the Anglo Saxon 
gold project. 
 
The Trouser Legs Project area is located 140 km east of Kalgoorlie and is centred on the historic Pinjin Mining 
Centre.  The Trouser Legs / Anglo Saxon project area is situated 35 kilometres to the east of the Carosue Dam 
Mill of Saracen Mining which is scheduled to recommence production during the first quarter of 2010. 
 
The tenements within the project area, comprising 4 Mining Leases and 2 General Purpose Leases, were 
originally granted in 1988 and have been renewed for a further 21 years of title during 2009.   
 
A small historic gold occurrence (the Anglo Saxon) occurs within the project area in a zone of intense gold 
workings collectively known as the historic Pinjin Mining Centre.  A significant amount of exploration has been 
carried out in preceding years in this area with a small non-current gold resource established.  
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With the continued strength of the gold price during the year the Joint Venture partners have completed an 
internal gold re-optimisation study on the Anglo Saxon utilising the oreblock models developed and used in 
previous resource calculations carried out during 2000 and 2001. This study was focussed primarily on the 
shallow oxide material within the mineralised package. Updated cost and price parameters were used and have 
encouraged the Joint Venture partners to obtain a renewed resource calculation on this gold mineralised body.  
 
In addition subsequent to the year end RAB drilling programs have been carried out on high grade gold targets 
and within existing gold bearing waste dumps. These programs have been designed to enhance the total gold 
inventory within the tenement area.  
 
Hawthorn Resources also holds a significant strategic tenement package in its own right immediately to the 
east of the Joint Venture area upon which exploration has commenced. 
 
South Laverton Exploration – Western Australia incorporating: 
 
Triumph Project   Hawthorn Resources Tenements 100%, Edjudina-Pinjin JV Tenements 

(Hawthorn Resources 80%, Avoca Resources 20%), Foley Well JV 
Tenements, Hawthorn Resources earning 80%, Yilgarn Gold 20%); 

Savannah Project   Hawthorn Resources tenements 100% and Edjudina-Pinjin JV Tenements 
(Hawthorn Resources 80%, Avoca Resources 20%); 

Yundamindera Project  Hawthorn Resources tenements 100%, Edjudina-Pinjin JV Tenements 
(Hawthorn Resources 80%, Avoca Resources 20%); 

Pinjin Project    Hawthorn Resources tenements 100%, Edjudina-Pinjin JV Tenements 
(Hawthorn Resources 80%, Avoca Resources 20%); and 

Deep South Project   Hawthorn Resources tenements 100% and Hawthorn Resources 80%, Avoca 
Resources 20%. 

 
Hawthorn Resources’ South Laverton Exploration Zone incorporates five project areas where Hawthorn 
Resources holds in its own right, has earned or is earning equity from joint venture partners in over 100 granted 
exploration, mining, prospecting licences and applications.  
  
These tenements cover a mostly contiguous portion of the Eastern Goldfields of Western Australia extending 
from the south shore of Lake Carey to the historic Pinjin Mining Centre– a strike extent of approximately 125 
kilometres. The tenement package is surrounded by a number of major gold mines, deposits and advanced 
resources including Sunrise Dam, Red October, Carosue Dam, Safari Bore, Deep South and the Porphyry 
group of deposits. In addition major structural features known to be associated with gold mineralisation 
throughout the district including the Pinjin and Claypan Dam Faults traverse the tenement package. 
 
A substantial number of tenements have been recently granted, most with a limited history modern gold and 
base metal exploration. Exploration within these tenements commenced during 2008-2009, while follow up 
exploration on existing targets continued.   
   
High priority gold targets within the Project areas have been assessed during the year. In the Yundamindera 
and Triumph Project areas a series of interpreted syenitic intrusions in have been assessed geologically and by 
auger drilling programs. 
 
In the Yundamindera Project area previous drill intersections to 19 metres @ 2.75 g/t Au have been returned 
from a suite of syenitic dykes in the south of the project area. Results from auger sampling collected over four 
magnetic anomalies with syenite intrusion related affinities returned results requiring drilling. 
 
In the Middle Box Bore area a result of 438 ppb Au in the most northerly sampling line has confirmed historic 
high auger drill gold results; while to the north-west of Hardies Well broad zones of anomalous Au 
mineralisation (15-38 ppb Au) on the margins of an interpreted syenite intrusion were recovered.   
 
Other potentially intrusion related, aeromagnetic features have been identified to the south west and southeast 
of the historic Gardiners Find Gold Mine in the western portion of the project area.  
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Several of these features correlate well with existing broad, auger drilling derived gold anomalies. The 
amplitude of these anomalies ranges between 19-62 ppb Au (against a background of < 4 ppb Au) over several 
hundred metres of strike. Initial broad spaced RAB drilling has intersected gold mineralised syenite dykes within 
the northern portion of this geochemical anomaly that require follow-up drilling. 
 
Immediately to the south of the main geochemical anomaly zone, reconnaissance soil samples (collected 
separately to the initial auger samples) returned values including 295, 420, 1385, 3260 ppb Au and 27.7 g/t Au. 
It is considered that these samples (with results to 27.7 g/t Au) have, unusually, intersected free gold in the soil 
profile. Although possible it is not considered likely that these results were contaminated in laboratory.  
 
These soil sample results do not, however, correlate well with auger sample results from adjacent sample 
positions (unlike samples in the main portion of the geochemical anomaly where the two data sets do correlate 
adequately) and are being treated with caution by Hawthorn Resources. A confirmatory program of soil and 
auger sampling has commenced after year end, with RAB drilling scheduled for the upcoming year.      
 
In the Triumph Project area auger sampling over structural targets returned encouraging results with a broad 
and coherent 800 metre x 200 metre zone of gold grading between 21 – 65 ppb Au (background of 4 ppb Au) 
identified in an area with no history of drilling. Other zones of anomalous Au auger samples of similar amplitude 
have been identified within the project area which will similarly require drilling. 
 
Clarke River Uranium Project – Queensland  
(Northern Resources Australia - 100% owned subsidiary of Hawthorn Resources) 
 
Hawthorn Resources, through its wholly owned subsidiary Northern Resources Pty Ltd, holds tenure over the 
Clarke River uranium project, located 180 kilometres west of Townsville in northern Queensland. The Clarke 
River Project is comprised of two granted exploration permits (EPM14944, 14946). 
 
The Clarke River Project area was initially explored for uranium during the 1970s and early 1980’s, with early 
exploration highlighting the prospective nature of the late-Carboniferous Lyall formation to host significant 
uranium occurrences.  Historic surface samples returning values of up to 1.4% uranium, highlighted the 
potential for significant, sediment-hosted uranium mineralisation, while drill intercepts including 0.9m @ 0.24% 
U, 0.6m @ 0.34%  U and 0.6m @ 0.23% U were reported over a 1.1 square kilometre initial target area.   
 
Northern Resources Australia carried out an RC drilling program during the previous year focussed on the 
Expedition Creek Prospect. The most northerly hole of the completed program, EX07RC05, drilled into a 
distinctive layer of coarse lithic sandstone and conglomerate layer underlain by a weakly carbonaceous shale 
unit. Geochemical assay results from this interval were encouraging with a downhole result of 2.0 metres @ 
0.08 % U from 151 metres depth. Follow up drilling during the year was frustrated by drill rig availability; 
however this program is planned to be completed during the early part of the upcoming year.   
 
East Kimberley Joint Venture – Western Australia 
(Thundelarra 80%, Hawthorn Resources 20%) 
 
The East Kimberley joint venture with Thundelarra Exploration is centred on exploration licences E80/2559, 
E80/2567 (Lamboo) and E80/2574 (Togo), approximately 45 kilometres to the southwest of Halls Creek in 
Western Australia.  Thundelarra has earned an 80% interest and manage the joint venture.   
 
Significant drill intersections of platinum, palladium and gold mineralisation have been reported by Thundelarra 
at the Edison and the Western Zone prospects in E80/2559.  Thundelarra has reported that limited exploration 
was undertaken on the Lamboo and Togo JV tenements during the year, and that following a review a decision 
was made to relinquish tenements E80/2567 and E80/2574. In addition subsequent to year end Thundelarra 
announced that a major exploration agreement had been signed with Cu – Ni producer Panoramic Resources, 
covering Thundelarra tenements throughout the East Kimberley, including tenement E80/2559.  
 
Hawthorn retains a 20% interest in this tenement and welcomes the renewed vigour that Panoramic Resources 
will inject into exploration throughout this area.      
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Whiteheads Joint Venture – Western Australia 
(Quantum Resources 80%, Hawthorn Resources 20%) 
 
The Whiteheads Joint Venture with Quantum Resources Limited (“QUR”) is located 50 kilometres northeast of 
Kalgoorlie.  The joint venture consists of 66 granted tenements and tenement applications in which QUR have 
earned an 80% interest.   
 
QUR reported in late 2007 that it had completed a RAB drilling program over interpreted mineralised structures 
with associated au-in-soil geochemical anomalies in the Lindsays Extension prospect area located 
approximately 3.8 kilometres southeast of Carrick Golds’ Lindsays Au Project.  
 
Best results from the completed RAB program included intercepts of 8 metres @ 2.17 g/t Au from 44 metres 
and 4 metres @ 3.61 g/t Au from 60 metres to end of hole in RAB drillhole WTHB1408. QUR continues to 
report that a further program of infill Aircore / RAB drilling is proposed to determine the extent and orientation of 
the mineralisation identified.  
 
At year end Quantum returned a package of 20 recently granted tenements from the Joint Venture ground to 
Hawthorn Resources, many with little or no modern exploration completed. Hawthorn has commenced 
exploration on these tenements at year end.   

 
Erayinia Joint Venture – Western Australia 
(ABM Resources 70%, Hawthorn Resources 30%) 
 
The Erayinia Joint Venture is centred approximately 130 kilometres south east of Kalgoorlie, Western Australia. 
The joint venture tenements, comprising of three granted exploration licences are managed by ABM Resources 
NL (“ABM”) who have earned 70% equity in the project area by exploration expenditure.  
 
Following extensive exploration during the previous year, during which ABM announced significant high grade 
intercepts ranging up to 4 metres @ 11.5% Zn from drilling at the King Prospect, exploration during the current 
year has been primarily focussed on the remaining over 20 geophysical targets identified geophysically along 
40 kilometres of the identified target horizon.  
 
Lake Rebecca JV – Western Australia  
(Newmont Australia 90%, Hawthorn Resources 10% Free Carry) 
 
This joint venture between Newmont Australia and Hawthorn Resources covers several tenements within the 
Wild Dog Dam Project area on the southern margin and within Lake Rebecca in Western Australia. The joint 
venture tenements are approximately 20 kilometres south of the Pinjin Mining Centre and cover the interpreted 
southern extension of the Pinjin Shear zone. 
 
The joint venture commenced in 2004 with Newmont targeting gold mineralisation within  palaeochannels at the 
base of the lake sediments utilising EM and drill testing, following comprehensive heritage and environmental 
clearance procedures.  
 
In August 2008 Newmont reported to Hawthorn that they had met the required expenditure commitment to earn 
equity. Hawthorn has elected to revert to a 10% free carry to completion of Feasibility Study over the Joint 
Venture area.    
 
Mt. Carulina Project - South Australia 
(Caldera Resources 75%, Ellendale Resources 25%) 
 
The Mt Carulina Project, comprising a single exploration licence (EL 3424), of 97 km2 is located in the northern 
part of South Australia, approximately 10 km west of Oodnadatta.  The project area covers a magnetic anomaly 
associated with a substantial coincident gravity feature.   
 
Barrick Gold completed a drilling program on the primary target during the previous year that failed to identify 
significant Cu sulphides and only minor pyrite in completed drillholes and subsequently withdrew from the farm 
in agreement in the tenement.  
 
At year end the tenement remained under review by the Joint Venture partners. 
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Mt. Sarah & Mt. Narlee - South Australia  
(Caldera 50%, Ellendale 50%, Simbieri earning to 60%) 
 
The Mt Sarah and Mt Narlee Projects (ELs 3924 and 3867) are located in the northern part of South Australia, 
70 and 30 kilometres north of Oodnadatta respectively.  The tenements are held by Hawthorn subsidiary 
Ellendale Resources (50%) and Caldera Resources Inc, a Canadian public company listed on TSX (50%). 
 
The Mt Sarah tenement was acquired to cover a magnetic anomaly associated with as substantial coincident 
gravity feature.  Small magnetic anomalies of uncertain provenance were the identified targets within the Mt 
Narlee tenement. 
 
Subsequent to the year end Canadian company Simbieri Mining Corporation withdrew from a farm in 
agreement on these tenements.  
 
The tenements are currently under review by the Joint Venture partners 
 
 

8



 
 

 
 
  
 
HAWTHORN RESOURCES LIMITED 

ABN 44 009 157 439 
 
  

 
CONTENTS 
 

Directors’ Report  
  
Auditors’ Independence Declaration  
  
Corporate Governance Statement  
  
Financial Statements  
  
Directors’ Declaration  
  
Independent Auditor’s Report  

 

 
 

 
FINANCIAL REPORT 2009 

 
 
 

9



Hawthorn Resources Limited 
Directors’ Report 

 

 

 
The Directors of Hawthorn Resources Limited present their report for the year ended 30 June 2009. 
 
1. Directors 
 
The Directors of the Company in office since 1 July 2008 and up to the date of this Report are: 
 
Mr Mark G Kerr LL.B 
Chairman and Non-Executive Director – Appointed 22 November 2007 
 
Mr Mark Kerr is a director of Ellendale Resources Pty Ltd.  He specializes in public relations and reputation 
management consultancy and has served on a number of public company boards. 
 
Mr Kerr has more than 30 years experience in the mining industry  
 
Mr M E Elliott  
Executive Director – Appointed 22 November 2007 
 
Mr Mark Elliott is a director of Ellendale Resources Pty Ltd.  Mr Elliott is a former partner of the international law 
firm Minter Ellison specializing in corporate and securities law and a former director of Spotless Group Limited, 
E*trade Limited, Oakton Limited and Mineral Deposits Limited and a former director and legal counsel of 
Computershare Limited. 
  
Dr David S Tyrwhitt - PhD(Geology) BSc(Hons) FSEG(USA) FAusIMM CPGeo 
Non-Executive Director 

Dr Tyrwhitt has been a Director of the Company since 1996. He has 50 years experience in the mining industry. 
He is currently a Director of Quantum Resources Limited (November 1999 to current), Golden River Resources 
Corporation (November 1996 to current) and Legend International Holdings Inc., (March 2005 to current) and a 
former director of Astro Diamond Mines NL (November 1996 to May 2008).  He worked for over 20 years with 
Newmont Mining Corporation in Australia, South East Asia and the United States.  During this time, he was 
responsible for the discovery of the Telfer Gold Mine in Western Australia.  He was Chief Executive of 
Newmont Australia Limited between 1984 and 1988 and Chief Executive Officer of Ashton Mining Limited 
between 1988 and 1991.  He established his own consultancy in 1991 and worked with Normandy Mining 
Limited on a number of mining projects in South East Asia. 
 
Directorships 
 
Other than the directorships noted above there have been no other directorships of listed entities held in the 
past three year. 
 
2. Principal Activities and Review and Results of Operations 
 
Hawthorn Resources Limited (“Hawthorn”) is an Australian diversified base metals and gold explorer with 
strategic and significant tenement holdings throughout the Eastern Goldfields of Western Australia, South 
Australia and Queensland.  
 
The principal activity of the Company during the financial year was mineral exploration.  There has been no 
significant change in the nature of that activity during the financial year. 
 
Objective 
 
The Company’s objective is to increase shareholder wealth through successful exploration activities whilst 
providing a safe workplace and ensuring best practice in relation to its environmental obligations. 
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Income Statement 
 
As an exploration company, the Company does not have an ongoing source of revenue.  Its revenue stream is 
normally from ad-hoc tenement disposals and interest received on cash in bank. In the current year, revenue 
has increased from $93,625 in 2008 to $135,224 in 2009. In both years the revenue has been interest received 
on surplus funding. Other income in 2009 amounted to $673 being an amount received from foreign currency 
gain (2008: $57,023).  
Costs and expenses totalled $26,514,771 in 2009 compared to $1,197,355 in 2008 and after allowing for the 
impairment in carrying value of an investment in a subsidiary company associated with the impairment in 
carrying value of exploration tenements in the Clarke River Uranium Project of $14.96 million (2009: $nil) – 
refer to Note 10 to the financial statements. Exploration expenditure written off in 2008 was $286,189 compared 
to $866,033 in 2009. A number of granted exploration licences and tenements were forfeited and reapplied for 
as mining leases, and the applications are pending and accordingly the exploration expenditure has been 
written off. Administration expenses for 2009 were $798,565 (2008: $942,591), continuing the Board of 
Directors tighter control on expenditures. Other expenses in 2009 $nil (2008: $27,096).  
 
The Company has cash in bank at 30 June 2009 was $1,877,236 (2008:$3,749,723), receivables totalled 
$48,773 (2008:$75,531), available for sale securities, following impairment testing of carrying values, of 
$1,756,696 (2008:$26,734,350), current liabilities totalled $814,925 (2008:$197,309) and non-current liabilities 
totaled $nil (2008: $691,049). 
 
At 30 June 2009, the Company had working capital of $1,113,235 (2008:$3,629,492) and net assets of 
$10,132,171 (2008:$36,638,526) after the abovementioned impairment in carrying values. 
 
Cash Flow 
 
During the year, the Company used $502,381 (2008:$920,666) in operating activities, paid $1,174,893 
(2008:$959,385) for exploration activities and raised no new equity capital of $nil (2008$4,255,312). As a result, 
the Company has cash in bank at 30 June 2009 of $1,877,236 (2008:$3,749,723). 

 
3. Significant Change in State of Affairs 
 
The Directors are of the opinion that other than as disclosed in the Principal Activities section of the Directors’ 
Report there has not been any significant change in the state of affairs of the Company during the year under 
review. 
 
4. Dividends 
 
The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been paid or declared by way 
of dividend since the end of the previous financial year and up to the date of this Annual Report. 
 
5. Events After The End Of The Financial Year 
 
In the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this Report the Company has: 
 

a) continued and accelerated its exploration activities, most noticeably in the Mt Bevan Project in Western 
Australia; and 

 
b) In August the Company has conducted an equity raising consisting of a Placement of shares at $0.007 

a share to raise $400,000 together with the announcement of the establishment of a Share Purchase 
Plan offering to shareholders at an issue price of $0.0072 a share. The Plan was underwritten by BBY 
Limited to the extent of 116.5 million new shares at $0.0072 a share to raise a minimum of $838,800. 
The Plan offering closed on 15 September 2009 with shareholders having strongly supported the 
offering and having subscribed an aggregate of $2,234,781. As such, there was no shortfall on the 
underwritten amount. At an issue price of $0.0072 a share the number of new shares allotted totalled 
310,386,210 shares. 
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Other than as noted above there are no items, transactions or events of a material and unusual nature which in 
the opinion of the Directors of the Company, has significantly affected or may significantly affect 
 
• the operations of the Company 
• the results of those operations, or 
• the state of affairs of the Company 
 
in financial years subsequent to this financial year. 
 
6. Future Developments and Results 
 
There are no likely developments of which the Directors are aware of which could be expected to significantly 
affect the results of the Company’s operations in subsequent financial years. 

 
7. Options 
 
At the date of this Report the Company had on issue the following listed and unlisted options over fully paid 
ordinary shares. 
 
(i) Listed 
 
Number Maturity Date Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period 
13,716,713 22 September 2010 No issue price $1.25 Anytime on or before 22 

September 2010. 
 
During the year and up to the date of this Report, none of these options have been exercised and no new 
options over fully paid ordinary shares were issued. Optionholders have no rights to participate in an issue of 
shares unless they exercise their options. The names of all the persons who currently hold options are entered 
on a register maintained for the Company, by Link Market Services Limited.  In accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, this register may be inspected free of charge. 
   
Number Maturity Date Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period 
13,569,422 30 April 2012 No issue price $0.20 Anytime on or before 30 April 

2012. 
 
During the year and up to the date of this Report, none of these options have been exercised and no new 
options over fully paid ordinary shares were issued.  Optionholders have no rights to participate in an issue of 
shares unless they exercise their options.  The names of all the persons who currently hold options are entered 
on a register maintained for the Company by Link Market Services Limited.  In accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, this register may be inspected free of charge. 
 
Number Maturity Date Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period 
165,084,231 28 February 2013 No issue price $0.10 Anytime on or before 28 

February 2013 
 
During the year and up to the date of this Report, none of these options have been exercised and no new 
options over fully paid ordinary shares were issued.  Optionholders have no rights to participate in an issue of 
shares unless they exercise their options. The names of all the persons who currently hold options are entered 
on a register maintained for the Company, by Link Market Services Limited. In accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001, this register may be inspected free of charge.   
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(ii) Unlisted 
 
Number Maturity Date Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period 
2,500,000 30 June 2018 nil A$0.10 Under Terms and Conditions of 

the employee share option plan 
 
 
Number Maturity Date Issue Price Exercise Price Exercise Period 
10,000,000 25 January 2018 nil A$0.10 Under Terms and Conditions of 

the .employee share option plan 
and a resolution of shareholders 
in the General Meeting held in 
January 2008 

 
During the year and up to the date of this Report, the Company has issued 2,500,000 options over fully paid 
ordinary shares.  
 
Options granted to Directors and Officers of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report are 
noted above and are set out in the Remuneration Report.  
 
As at the date of this Report none of the Unlisted options have been exercised.  

 
8. Directors’ Interests in Shares and Options 
 
The declared relevant interest of each Director in the number of fully paid ordinary shares and options over fully 
paid ordinary shares of the Company disclosed by that Director to the ASX Limited as at the date of this Report 
is: 
 

Director Relevant Interest 
 Ordinary 

Shares 
Unquoted 

Options 
(HAWAM) 

25/01/2018

Quoted 
Options 
(HAWOB) 

28/02/2013

 

M G Kerr 50,187,572 5,000,000 9,428,000  
M E Elliott 12,083,333 5,000,000 -  
D S Tyrwhitt - - -  
 
9. Meetings of Directors 
 
The number of meetings of Directors held including meetings of Committees of the Board during the financial 
year including their attendance was as follows: 
 
 BOARD AUDIT 

COMMITTEE * 
REMUNERATION 

COMMITTEE 
 ELIGIBLE 

TO 
ATTEND 

ATTENDED ELIGIBLE 
TO 

ATTEND 

ATTENDED ELIGIBLE 
TO 

ATTEND 

ATTENDED 

M G Kerr 5 5 2 2 - - 
D S Tyrwhitt 5 5 2 2 - - 
M E Elliott 5 5 2 2 - - 
Note: * Audit Committee considerations are held within Board Meetings 
 
10. Company Secretary 
 
Mr M Garbutt, appointed in May 2008, is the Company Secretary of the Company and its subsidiaries. Mr 
Garbutt is a Fellow of Chartered Secretaries Australia Ltd. and is a Justice of the Peace in Victoria. He has over 
30 years commercial experience and currently conducts a corporate compliance and company secretarial 
company providing such services to a number of public and listed companies in Australia including Hawthorn 
Resources Limited group. As such, Mr Garbutt is not a direct employee of the Company and does not receive 
remuneration from the Company.  
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11. Directors and Officers’ Indemnity and Auditor Indemnity 
 
Directors: 
The Company has entered into an Indemnity Deed with each of the Directors and with certain former Directors 
which will indemnify them against liability incurred to a third party (not being the Company or any related 
company) where the liability does not arise out of conduct including a breach of good faith. The Indemnity Deed 
will continue to apply for a period of 10 years after a Director ceases to hold office and a Director’s Access and 
Insurance Deed with each of the Directors pursuant to which a Director can request access to copies of 
documents provided to the Director whilst serving the Company for a period of 10 years after the Director 
ceases to hold office.  There will be certain restrictions on the Directors’ entitlement to access under the deed.   
 
Auditors: 
The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an 
auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as an auditor. 
 
12. Environment 

 
The exploration activities of the Hawthorn group are conducted in accordance with and controlled principally by 
Australian state and territory government legislation.  The group has extensive exploration land holdings in 
Australia.  The Company employs a system for reporting environmental incidents, establishing and 
communicating accountability, and rating environmental performance.  During the year data on environmental 
performance was reported as part of the monthly exploration reporting regime.  In addition, as required under 
state legislation, procedures are in place to ensure that the relevant authorities are notified prior to the 
commencement of ground disturbing exploration activities. 
 
The Company is committed to minimising the impact of its activities on the surrounding environment at the 
same time aiming to maximise the social, environmental and economic returns for the local community.  To this 
end the environment is a key consideration in our exploration activities and during the rehabilitation of disturbed 
areas.  Generally rehabilitation occurs immediately following the completion of a particular phase of exploration. 
In addition the Company continues to develop and maintain mutually beneficial relationships with the local 
communities affected by its activities.   
 
13. Non- Audit Services 
 
During the year other than noted below, PKF, the Company’s auditor, has not performed other services in 
addition to their statutory duties. 
 
A copy of the Auditors Independence declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act is 
attached to the Directors’ Report. 
 
Details of the amounts paid to the auditor of the Company, PKF, and its related practices for audit and non-
audit services provided during the year are set out below. 
 
 2009 

$ 
2008 

$
Statutory audit  

Auditors of the Company - PKF  

- audit and review of financial reports  38,000 50,000

- other non-audit services (i)  

Auditors of Ellendale Group  

- audit and review of financial reports -KPMG - 37,998

Other services - PKF - 1,500

Total fees paid  38,000 98,498
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(i)           Non-Audit Services 
 
During the year PKF, the Company’s auditor, discussed the provision of tax compliance services with the 
Company. Whilst no fees have been charged to or accrued by the Company it is estimated that such discussions 
amounted to time based professional fees before GST of $7,500 for these non-audit services. The directors are 
satisfied that the provision of such time and services is compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 and do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor 
independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as they did not involve 
reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for the 
Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 
 
14. Remuneration Report 
 
(i) Overview of Remuneration Policies – audited 
 
Up to 31 March 2008 the Company was, as in past years, managed by AXIS Consultants Pty Ltd (“AXIS 
Consultants”) pursuant to a Service Deed dated 25 November 1988. In accordance with the arrangement with 
AXIS Consultants, it provided company secretarial, finance, geology, exploration, IT and other services to the 
Company. As a result, the Company had no employees. 
 
Key management personnel had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the Company, including Directors of the Company and other Executives. Key management personnel 
included the five most highly remunerated S300A Directors and Executives of the Company. 
 
Remuneration levels for Directors of the Company were competitively set to attract and retain appropriately 
qualified and experienced Directors.  The Remuneration Committee obtains independent advice on the 
appropriateness of remuneration packages given trends in comparative companies and the objectives of the 
Company’s remuneration strategy, when appropriate. 

 
The remuneration structures explained below are designed to attract suitably qualified candidates, reward the 
achievement of strategic objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value for shareholders.  
The remuneration structures take into account: 

 
 the capability and experience of the Directors; 

 
 the Director’s ability to control the Company’s performance; 

 
 the Company’s performance including: 

 
− the Company’s earnings 
− the growth in share price and returns on shareholder wealth. 
 

For the period July 2007 to March 2008 Axis Consultants Pty Ltd was paid a total of $775,132 before GST.  
 

The Company entered into a service arrangement with Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd (“Berkeley Consultants”) 
effective from 1 April 2008 to replace the AXIS Consultants Pty Ltd agreed services described above, on 
substantially the same terms and conditions. 
 
Berkeley Consultants now provides to all group companies the services previously provided by AXIS 
Consultants Pty Ltd. Services provided by Berkeley Consultants are pursuant to the terms of a management 
agreement, and includes providing the Company with its registered corporate head office facilities in 
Melbourne, a fully serviced office and ancillary services arrangement, as well as staff to carry out management 
and administrative functions. 
  
Total fees and disbursements paid or due to Berkeley Consultants during the year amounted to $492,013 plus 
GST. 
 
This arrangement with Berkeley Consultants represented a related party transaction with both Mr Elliott and Mr 
M Kerr having a material personal interest in the transactions through their association with Berkeley 
Consultants Pty Ltd. 
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Given the nature of the related party interest in this matter Mr D Tyrwhitt, as a non-related non-executive 
director, reviewed and approved the provision of serviced office facilities and executive functions offered to the 
Hawthorn Resources group of companies by Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd noting the terms and procedures set 
out in Section 195 of the Corporations Act. 
 
In considering the services to be provided Mr Tyrwhitt noted the following: 

 
(i) an initial proposed term from 1 April 2008 to 30 September 2009 and thereafter on a month to 

month basis; 
 
(ii) the terms proposed are similar to the previous AXIS Consultants arrangement being on arms 

length commercial terms; 
 
(iii) the proposal includes provision of serviced offices with reception, boardroom and other 

facilities as required; 
 

(iv) the arrangement of executive functions but excluding audit and corporate secretarial functions, 
for a ten (10) per cent management fee; 

 
(v) fees will be payable quarterly in arrears; and 

 
(vi) the Northern Resources Australia fee arrangement will cease and there will be no further 

payment of Ellendale Resources directors fees beyond 30 June 2008. 
 

Pursuant to the above arrangement, fees paid to Berkeley Consultants for the year ended 30 June 2009 
amounted to $ 492,013 before GST (2008 part year:$99,956 before GST).  
 
The Company’s performance, during the current year and over the past four years, has been as follows: 

 
 2009 

$ 
2008 

$ 
2007 

$ 
2006 

$ 
2005 

$ 
  
Revenue 135,224 93,625 89,991 53,259 362,235
  
Net profit / (loss) (26,379,547) (1,212,932) (1,983,866) (2,289,961)  (1,851,289) 
  
Basic earnings per share (1.483) (0.26) (0.53) (0.85)  (0.91) 
  
Diluted earnings per share (1.483) (0.26) (0.53) (0.85)  (0.91) 
  
Net assets 10,132,171 36,638,526 7,759,009 9,407,276 4,665,974
 

The Directors do not believe the financial or share price performance of the Company is an accurate measure 
when considering remuneration structures as the Company is in the mineral exploration industry.  Companies in 
this industry do not have an ongoing source of revenue, as revenue is normally from ad-hoc transactions. 
 
The more appropriate measure is the identification of exploration targets, identification and/or increase of 
mineral resources and reserves and the ultimate conversion of the Company from explorer status to mining 
status. 

 
(ii) Service Agreements with AXIS Consultants Pty Ltd  

The Service Agreement with Axis Consultants Pty Ltd ceased as of 31 March 2008 
 
(iii) Management and Office Services – Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd 
 
As described in Note (i) above. 
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(iv) Non-Executive Directors  

 
Total remuneration for all Non-Executive Directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 1999 AGM, is not to 
exceed $200,000 per annum.  The aggregate of Non-Executive Directors’ base fees for the financial year was 
$116,121 per annum.  Non-Executive Directors do not receive performance related remuneration.  Directors’ 
fees cover all main board activities and membership of board committee.  Non-Executive Directors do not 
receive any benefits on retirement.   
 
(v) Performance-Linked Remuneration  

 
Performance linked remuneration focuses on long-term incentives and was designed to reward key 
management personnel for meeting or exceeding their objectives.   
 
Long-Term Incentive 
 
2005 Employee Share Option Plan 
 
At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held in November 2005, shareholders of the Company 
approved the introduction of the Hawthorn Resources Limited 2005 Share Option Plan (“the Plan) and the issue 
of options under the Plan to the Directors at the time. 
 
The Plan was introduced to assist in the reward, retention and motivation of eligible persons.  
 
The key components of the Plan and conditions imposed by the Board for the initial issue of options were that 
the options will have no issue price; the exercise price of the options will be an amount as determined by the 
Board and will be not less than the market price for one share on the date the Board decides to invite a 
participant to apply for options; the Board can determine the exercise conditions (if any) to apply prior to a 
participant being able to exercise the options; if the exercise condition is met, the participant (subject to 
continuing to be an eligible participant) is able to exercise the options at any time for a period of 3 years after 
the vesting period; the number of options that can be on issue under the Plan is 5% of the issued number of 
shares in the Company at the date of an invitation or grant of an option (for this purpose, the 5% is calculated 
as the number of shares the subject of options the Board proposes to issue an invitation or proposes to grant; 
the number of shares which would be issued if all offers or options to acquire unissued shares pursuant to this 
Plan or any other employee share option plan were accepted or exercised; the number of shares issued 
pursuant to the Plan in the last 5 years; and the number of shares issued during the last 5 years pursuant to 
any other employee share scheme of the Company); if the employment of a participant is terminated before the 
end of the vesting period, the options held by that participant will lapse, except where a participant has ceased 
to be employed due to death or mental incapacity (in such circumstances the Board has the ability to allow the 
legal personal representative of the participant to exercise the option on the terms set by the Board at the time). 
In the case of termination after the vesting period, the participant has one month to exercise the option 
otherwise it lapses; the Board will also have the discretion to have the options expire if it determines that a 
participant has acted fraudulently, dishonestly or in a manner which is in breach of his or her obligations to the 
Company or a subsidiary of the Company; participants will have their entitlements in respect of options held 
adjusted to take account of capital reconstructions and bonus issues as if the option has been exercised before 
the determination of entitlement in respect of these issues.  If the Company makes a pro rata rights issue to 
shareholders, the exercise price of an option will be reduced according to the formula specified in the Australian 
Securities Exchange (“ASX”) Listing Rules; and in the case of a change of control, options are immediately 
exercisable notwithstanding exercise conditions or the vesting period. 
 
For the initial grant of options, the Directors resolved that the exercise price will be the weighted average 
closing price of shares sold on ASX on the 5 trading days immediately preceding the offer of options to a 
Participant (but if no shares were sold on ASX during that 5 day period the exercise price of an option is to be 
determined by the Board to be equal to the closing price of shares sold on ASX on the last trading day on which 
the shares were traded) multiplied by up to 200 percent; the options cannot be exercised for 2 years from grant. 
The options were issued without a specific performance hurdle given the current conditions for attracting and 
retaining staff in the highly competitive resources market. However a share price hurdle has effectively been 
built into the options to align shareholders interests with participants’ interests. 
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The above options were valued by an external consultant as at grant date using the Black Scholes pricing 
model and the following inputs: 
 
Grant date 19 October 2006
Grant date share price $0.06
Vesting date 19 October 2008
Expected life in years 3.5
Risk-free rate 5.91%
Volatility 75%
Exercise price $0.10
Fair value of option $0.027

 
Since the time of grant and prior to the vesting date all grantees have ceased to be employed by / associated with the 
Company and accordingly per the terms of the Plan such options were forfeited in April 2008 
 
The following table discusses options that have been issued to key management personnel under the Plan. 
 

MZ Gutnick – Non-Executive Director  
Resigned 22 November 2007 
 

2009 2008 

Date of issue  19 October 2006 
Number of options  2,000,000 
Issue price  Nil 
Exercise price  $0.10 
Value of options   $54,000 
Expiry date  19 October 2011 
Number of options vested during the year  Nil 
% vested in year  0% 
% forfeited in year  100% 
Value yet to vest (unaudited)   
- minimum  Nil 
- maximum  Nil 
Number of options on issue   
- at 1 July  2,000,000 
- at 30 June  Nil 

 
PJ Lee – General Manager Corporate & Company Secretary 
Resigned 31 March 2008 

2009 2008 

Date of issue  19 October 2006 
Number of options  2,500,000 
Issue price  Nil 
Exercise price  $0.10 
Value of options   $67,500 
Expiry date  19 October 2011 
Number of options vested during the year  Nil 
% vested in year  0% 
% forfeited in year  100% 
Value yet to vest (unaudited)   
- minimum  Nil 
- maximum  Nil 
Number of options on issue   
- at 1 July  2,500,000 
- at 30 June  nil 
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M G Kerr –  Chairman 
Appointed 22 November 2007 
 

2009 2008 

Date of issue  
 

25 January 2008 

Number of options 5,000,000 5,000,000 
Issue price Nil Nil 
Exercise price $0.10 $0.10 
Value of options  $126,000 $126,000 
Expiry date 25 January 2018 25 January 2018 
Number of options vested during the year Nil Nil 
% vested in year 100% 0% 
% forfeited in year 0% 0% 
Value yet to vest (unaudited)   
- minimum Nil Nil 
- maximum Nil Nil 
Number of options on issue   
- at 1 July 5,000,000 Nil 
- at 30 June 5,000,000 5,000,000 

 
 
 

M E Elliott– Non-Executive Director 
Appointed 22 November 2007 

2009 2008 

Date of issue 25 January 2008 25 January 2008 
Number of options 5,000,000 5,000,000 
Issue price Nil Nil 
Exercise price $0.10 $0.10 
Value of options  $126,000 $126,000 
Expiry date 25 January 2018 25 January 2018 
Number of options vested during the year Nil Nil 
% vested in year 100% 0% 
% forfeited in year 0% 0% 
Value yet to vest (unaudited)   
- minimum Nil Nil 
- maximum Nil Nil 
Number of options on issue   
- at 1 July 5,000,000 Nil 
- at 30 June 5,000,000 5,000,000 

 
1. Details concerning the valuation methodology and key assumptions made in the option valuations are set out on 

the preceding pages. 
2. The minimum value of options yet to vest is $nil as the vesting conditions have not been met and consequently the 

option may not vest. 
3. The maximum value of options yet to vest is not determinable as it depends on the market price of shares of the 

Company at the date the options are exercised, and whether the price hurdles are met during the vesting period. 
The maximum value shown are based on the assumptions that the share price on the date the option is exercised 
does not exceed $0.063 for the grants issued on 19 0ctober 2006. These share prices represent a maximum price 
included in the volatility assumptions within the valuation of the options. 

4. Unless otherwise disclosed, no options were exercised and no options lapsed in the year. 
 
During the year FY 2008, 2,000,000 and 2,500,000 non-vested options granted to Messrs M Z Gutnick and P J 
Lee respectively on 19 October 2006, under the 2005 Employee Share Option Plan lapsed and were cancelled 
following their resignations and cessation of their executive positions with the Company.  

 
Details of Directors, Executives and Remuneration  

 
As noted in section (i), management services are provided to the Company by Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd. 
Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd pays the Chairman’s remuneration fees on behalf of the Company, based on pre-
agreed amounts. Berkeley Consultants has provided the following information in regard to the amounts invoiced 
to the Company for the Directors in respect of all remuneration (as that term is defined in the Corporations Act 
2001) received by the Directors in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company.  
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The names of the Directors and Executives in office during the year are as follows:- 
 
(a) Directors 
M G Kerr – Chairman and Non-Executive Directors (appointed 22 November 2007) 
M E Elliott – Non-Executive Director (appointed 22 November 2007) 
D S Tyrwhitt – Non Executive Director (appointed 14 November 1996) 

 
(b) Executives 
M Garbutt – Company Secretary (appointed 5 May 2008) 

 
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director of the Company and  
of each Executive of the Company are: 

 
   

 
Primary 

 
 

Post-
employment 

 
 

Equity 
compensation Total 

$ 

s300A (1)(e)(i) 
Proportion of 
remuneration 
performance 

related % 

s300A (1)(e)(vi) 
Value of options 
as proportion of 
remuneration % 

   
Salary  
& fees 

$ 

Non-
monetary 
benefits 

$ 

 
Super- 

annuation 
$ 

 
Value of  
options 

$ 

   

         
Directors         
Executive          
M E Elliott (i) 
(ii) 

2009 46,121 - - 73,500 119,621 61.44 61.44 

 2008 70,000 - - 52,500 122,500 43.03 43.03 
         
Non-
Executive 

        

M G Kerr (ii) 2009 40,000 - - 73,500 113,500 64.75 64.75 
 2008 70,000 - - 52,500 122,500 43.03 43.03 
         
         
J I Gutnick 2009 - - - - - - - 
 2008 - - - - - - - 
         
D S Tyrwhitt 2009 40,000 - - - 40,000   
 2008 - - - - - - - 
         
M Z Gutnick 2009 - - - - - - - 
 2008 - - - - - - - 
         
Total all 
Directors 

2009 
2008 

126,121 
140,000 

- 
- 

- 
- 

147,000 
105,000 

273,121 
245,000 

- 
- 

- 

Executives         
         
P J Lee 2009 - - - - - - - 
 2008 - - - - - - - 
         
M Garbutt )iii) 2009 - - - - - - - 
 2008 - - - - - - - 
         
Total, all 
Executives 

2009 
2008 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
- 

         
Total all 
Directors  2009 126,121 - - 147,000 273,121 

- - 

& Executives 2008 140,000 - - 105,000 245,000 - - 
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(i) In May 2009 and as announced to the ASX Mr Elliott was appointed to the position of 

Managing Director; 
 
(ii) In addition to the above disclosed remuneration, $492,013 (2008: part year $99,956 before 

GST) was paid to Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd during the year for management and 
serviced office facilities; & 

 
(iii) During the year KR Corporate Compliance Pty Ltd, of which Mr Garbutt is a director, 

provided secretarial and corporate governance services to the Company. Such time based 
professional fees as charged by KR Corporate Compliance Pty Ltd amounted to $35,725 
before GST (2008: part year $8,785 before GST). 

 
There were no short term cash bonuses, post employment prescribed benefits, termination benefits or 
insurance premiums paid during 2008 or 2009. 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration: 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration as required under Section 307 C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set 
out on page 15. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors at Melbourne this  
30th day of September 2009. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
MARK KERR 
Chairman 
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AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
As lead auditor for the audit of Hawthorn Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, I 
declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 
 
(a) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 
 
(b) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 
This declaration is in respect of Hawthorn Resources Limited and the entities it controlled during the 
year. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
David Garvey 
Partner 
PKF 
 
 
30 September 2009 
Melbourne 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Tel: 61 3 9603 1700  |  Fax: 61 3 9602 3870  |  www.pkf.com.au 
PKF  |  ABN 83 236 985 726 
Level 14, 140 William Street  |  Melbourne  |  Victoria 3000  |  Australia 
GPO Box 5099  |  Melbourne  |  Victoria 3001  

The PKF East Coast Practice is a member of the PKF International Limited network of legally independent member firms. The PKF East Coast Practice is also a member 
of the PKF Australia Limited national network of legally independent firms each trading as PKF. PKF East Coast Practice has offices in NSW, Victoria and Brisbane. PKF 
East Coast Practice does not accept responsibility or liability for the actions or inactions on the part of any other individual member firm or firms. 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES AND CONDUCT 

The board of directors of Hawthorn Resources Limited is responsible for establishing the corporate governance 
framework of the Group having regard to the ASX Corporate Governance Council (CGC) published guidelines as 
well as its corporate governance principles and recommendations. The board guides and monitors the business and 
affairs of Hawthorn Resources Limited on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they 
are accountable. 
 
The table below summarises the Company's compliance with the CGS's recommendations. 
 

 Recommendation Comply 
Yes/No 

Reference/explanation ASX Listing Rule/ 
Recommendation 

 Principle 1 - Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight 

   

1.1  Companies should establish the functions 
reserved to the board and those delegated to 
senior executives and disclose those functions. 

Yes Page25 ASX LR 1.1 

1.2 Companies should disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of senior executives. 

Yes Page26 &28 
 

ASX LR 1.2 

1.3 Companies should provide the information 
indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 1. 

Yes  ASX LR 1.3 

  
Principle 2 - Structure the board to add value 

   

2.1  A majority of the board should be independent 
directors. 

No Page 25 & 26 ASX LR 2.1 

2.2 The chair should be an independent director. No Page 25 ASX LR 2.2 

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer 
should not be exercised by the same individual. 

Yes Page 25 ASX LR 2.3 

2.4 The board should establish a nomination 
committee. 

No Page 28 ASX LR 2.4 

2.5 Companies should disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors. 

Yes  Page 26 & 28 ASX LR 2.5 

2.6 Companies should provide the information 
indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 2. 

Yes  ASX LR 2.6 

 Principle 3 - Promote ethical and responsible 
decision-making 

   

3.1 Companies should establish a code of conduct 
and disclose the code or a summary of the code 
as to: 
_ The practices necessary to maintain 
confidence in the company's integrity. 
_ The practices necessary to take into account 
their legal obligations and the reasonable 
expectations of their stakeholders. 
_ The responsibility and accountability of 
individuals for reporting and investigating reports 
of unethical practices. 

Yes Page 28 & 28 ASX LR 3.1 

3.2 Companies should establish a policy concerning 
trading in company securities by directors, senior 
executives and employees, and disclose the 
policy or a summary of that policy. 

Yes Page 27 ASX LR 3.2 

3.3 Companies should provide the information 
indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 3 

Yes  ASX LR 3.3 

 Principle 4 - Safeguard integrity in financial 
reporting 

   

4.1  The board should establish an audit committee. Yes Page 27 ASX LR 4.1 
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4.2  The audit committee should be structured so that 

it: 
Consists only of non-executive directors 

 Has at least three members 
_ Consists of a majority of independent directors 
_ Is chaired by an independent chair, who is not 
chair of the board 

 
 
No 
Yes 
No 
Yes 

 
 
Page 27 
Page 27 
Page 27 
Page 27 

ASX LR 4.2  

ASX LR 12.7 

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal 
charter. 

No Page 27 ASX LR 4.3 

4.4  Companies should provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 4. 

No   ASX LR 4.4 

 Principle 5 - Make timely and balanced 
disclosure 

   

5.1  Companies should establish written policies 
designed to ensure compliance with ASX listing 
rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior executive level for that 
compliance and disclose those policies or a 
summary of those policies. 

Yes Page 28 & 30 ASX LR 5.1 

5.2 Companies should provide the information 
indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 5. 

No  ASX LR 5.2 

 Principle 6 - Respect the rights of 
shareholders 

   

6.1 Companies should design a communications 
policy for promoting effective communication 
with shareholders and encouraging their 
participation at general meetings and disclose 
their policy or a summary of that policy. 

Yes Page 30 ASX LR 6.1 

6.2 Companies should provide the information 
indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 6. 

Yes  ASX LR 6.2 

  
Principle 7 - Recognise and manage risk 

   

7.1 Companies should establish policies for the 
oversight and management of material business 
risks and disclose a summary of those policies. 

Yes Page 27 & 28 ASX LR 7.1 

7.2 The board should require management to design 
and implement the risk management and internal 
control system to manage the company's 
material business risks and report to it on 
whether those risks are being managed 
effectively. The board should disclose that 
management has reported to it as to the 
effectiveness of the company's management of 
its material business risks 

Yes Page 27 & 28 ASX LR 7.2 

7.3 The board should disclose whether it has 
received assurance from the chief executive 
officer [or equivalent) and the chief financial 
officer [or equivalent] that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act is founded on a sound system 
of risk management and internal control and that 
the system is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

Yes Page 29 ASX LR 7.3 

7.4 Companies should provide the information 
indicated in the guide to reporting on Principle 7. 

Yes  ASX LR 7.4 

 Principle 8 – Remunerate fairly and 
responsibly 

   

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration 
committee. 

No Page 29 & 30 ASX LR 8.1 

8.2 Companies should clearly distinguish the 
structure of nonexecutive directors' remuneration 
from that of executive directors and senior 
executives. 

Yes Page 27 & 28 ASX LR 8.2 

8.3 Companies should provide the information 
indicated in the Guide to reporting on Principle 8. 

Yes  ASX LR 8.3 
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
Hawthorn Resources Limited's corporate governance practices were in place throughout the year ended 30 June 
2009. 
 
Board functions 
 
The board seeks to identify the expectations of the shareholders, as well as other regulatory and ethical expectations 
and obligations. In addition, the board is responsible for identifying areas of significant business risk and ensuring 
arrangements are in place to adequately manage those risks. To ensure that the board is well equipped to discharge 
its responsibilities it has established guidelines for the nomination and selection of directors and for the operation of 
the board. The responsibility for the operation and administration of the Group is delegated, by the board, to the 
Managing Director and the executive management team. The board ensures that this team is appropriately qualified 
and experienced to discharge their responsibilities and has in place procedures to assess the performance of the 
executive management team. Whilst at all times the board retains full responsibility for guiding and monitoring the 
Group, in discharging its stewardship it makes use of sub-committees. Specialist committees are able to focus on a 
particular responsibility and provide informed feedback to the board.  To this end the board has established the 
Share Allotment and Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance Committees. 
 
The Directors in office at the date of this statement, their skills, experience, expertise and period of directorship are 
detailed in the Directors’ Report. In respect of the attendance at Board and Committee Meetings, shareholders are 
referred to the table of Meeting Attendance contained on page 13. 
 
Structure of the Board 

The skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director held by each director in office at the date of 
the annual report are included in the directors’ report. Directors of Hawthorn Resources Limited are considered to be 
independent when they are independent of management and free from any business or other relationship that could 
materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the exercise of their 
unfettered and independent judgement. 

In the context of director independence, “materiality” is considered from both the Group and individual director 
perspective. The determination of materiality requires consideration of both quantitative and qualitative elements. 
An item is presumed to be quantitatively immaterial if it is equal to or less than 5% of the appropriate base amount. 
It is presumed to be material (unless there is qualitative evidence to the contrary) if it is equal to or greater than 10% 
of the appropriate base amount.   Qualitative factors considered include whether a relationship is strategically 
important, the competitive landscape, the nature of the relationship and the contractual or other arrangements 
governing it and other factors that point to the actual ability of the director in question to shape the direction of the 
Group's loyalty. 
 
In accordance with the definition of independence above, and the materiality thresholds set, the following directors 
of Hawthorn Resources Limited are considered to have the following status: 
 

Name Position and status Term in Office 
Non-executive directors   
Mr Mark G Kerr Chairman and Non-Executive Director  1.6 years 
Dr David S Tyrwhitt Independent Director  12.6 years 
   
Executive directors   
Mr Mark E Elliott Managing Director 1,6 years 
   

 
The board recognises the Corporate Governance Council’s recommendation that the Chairman should be an 
independent director. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
 
Composition of the Board 
 
The Company's Constitution provides for the appointment of a minimum of three Directors and up to a maximum of 
twelve.  At the date of this report, the Company has three Directors comprising one Executive and two Non-
Executive Directors.  The Chairman of the Board and the Chairman of the Board’s Committees’ are Non-Executive 
Directors. 

In June 2009 the Board of Directors undertook its annual review of the status of each Director and reached the 
opinion that each Director, apart from Mr Elliott, could be classified as a Non-Executive Director. In addition, this 
assessment has concluded Dr Tyrwhitt qualified as an Independent Director.    
 
Board Responsibilities 
 
The responsibility for the operation and administration of the Company is delegated by the Board to the specifically 
identified outsourced service providers.  The Board ensures that this team of service providers is appropriately 
qualified and experienced to discharge their responsibilities and has in place procedures to assess their performance. 
 
The Board is responsible for ensuring that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the expectations 
and risks identified by the Board.  The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure this is achieved.  In 
addition to the establishment of specific committees referred in this statement, these mechanisms include the 
following: 
 
• Implementation of operating plans and budgets by management and Board monitoring of progress against 

budget – this includes the establishment and monitoring of key performance indicators (both financial and 
non-financial) for all significant business processes; 

• Procedures to allow Directors, in the furtherance of their duties, to seek independent professional advice at 
the company’s expense; 

• The review and approval of acquisitions and disposals of businesses and assets, and the approval of 
contracts and financing arrangements within defined limits; and 

• The appointment of an outsourced service provider, which is responsible for managing the Company’s 
public image and communication with shareholders. 

 
In conjunction with an ongoing review of the Board Charter, the Board will consider its responsibilities and 
delegated authorities to ensure they comply with best practice corporate governance. 
 
Nomination and Membership 
 
Subject to the provisions of the Company's Constitution, Board composition and selection criteria for Directors are 
addressed by the full Board.  Accordingly, a Nomination and Membership Committee has not been established. 
 
The Constitution provides for events whereby Directors may be removed from the Board.  Similarly shareholders 
have the ability to nominate, appoint and remove Directors.  The Constitution also provides for the regular rotation 
of Directors, which ensures that Directors seek re-election by shareholders at least once every three years. 
 
Independent Professional Advice 
 
Directors, in carrying out their duties as Directors or as members of Board Committees, may, after prior consultation 
with the Chairman, seek independent professional advice at the expense of the Company. If appropriate, such advice 
will be available to all Directors.  
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
 
Timely and Balanced Disclosure 
 
The Board of Directors has established written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance and at each 
meeting of the Board of Directors and specifically monitors the Company’s activities and disclosures.  On average 
there are between five and nine Board meetings a year. The Board of Directors has endorsed the principles of best 
corporate governance practice as set out by the Council.  
 
Performance 
 
The performance of the board and key executives is reviewed periodically against both measurable and qualitative 
indicators.  The performance criteria against which directors and executives are assessed are aligned with the 
financial and non-financial objectives of Hawthorn Resources Limited.  
 
Trading Policy 
 
Under the Company's Securities Trading Policy, an executive or director must not trade in any securities of the 
Company at any time when they are in possession of unpublished, price-sensitive information in relation to those 
securities.   The Directors are permitted to deal in securities in which they have a relevant interest without restriction 
for any period other than the last day in each half or full year reporting period until two business days after the 
release to the ASX of the announcements by the Company of its full year or half year results. Directors are required 
to wait at least two business days after the release of any market sensitive announcement by the Company so that the 
market has had time to absorb the information.  
 
As required by the ASX listing rules, the Company notifies the ASX of any transaction conducted by directors in the 
securities of the Company. 
 
Board of Directors and its Committees 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall governance of the Company inclusive of its strategic 
development and the direction and the control of operations of the Company. Whilst the Board retains overall 
responsibility, it has established certain committees to assist in carrying out its responsibilities.  Such committees 
include the audit, compliance and corporate governance committee and the share allotment committee. 
 
Audit, Compliance and Corporate Governance Committee 
 
 It is the board's responsibility to ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the entity. This 
includes internal controls to deal with both the effectiveness and efficiency of significant business processes, the 
safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, and the reliability of financial information as 
well as non-financial considerations such as the benchmarking of operational key performance indicators. 
 
The board has delegated responsibility for establishing and maintaining a framework of internal control and ethical 
standards to the audit, compliance and corporate governance committee. However, as the Board of Directors 
comprises three only directors the functions of the committee are carried out within the structure and conduct of 
Board Meetings but under the Chairmanship of Dr Tyrwhitt. A charter is being prepared for approval by the board. 
 
The committee, as at the date of this statement, comprises: 
 
Chairman Dr D S Tyrwhitt (Independent Director) 
Member  Mr M G Kerr (Non-Executive Director) 
Member  Mr M E Elliott (Managing Director) 
 
The Company's Auditors are invited to attend meetings and to participate in committee discussions.  The Group 
Financial Officer attends committee meetings.  
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
The duties of the Committee have been established as and include: 
 
• The review of the Audit Programme and all matters relevant to the financial affairs of the Company's 

activities together with the production of Statutory Financial Reports inclusive of the Reports and 
Declarations by Directors. 

• To review and advise on procedures in place to record the Company's activities and to ensure the safety of 
the Company's records and assets. 

• To review Internal Control Procedures and the Auditor's Management letter. 
• To review the half-yearly and yearly reports to the ASX Limited together with a review of the scope and 

quality of the annual statutory audit and the half-year audit review.  
• To monitor Compliance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Securities and 

Investment Commission guidelines and practice notes, ASX Listing Rules, taxation requirements and all 
regulatory bodies. 

• Carry out the functions of the Remuneration Committee. 
• Group Risk management 
• To review the performance of the external auditor and the level of fees charged for audit services 
 
Nomination Committee 
 
The Company does not have a Nomination Committee. The Board believes that with only three Directors on the 
Board, the Board itself is the appropriate forum to deal with this function.  
 
Share Allotment Committee 
 
Any two Directors will constitute a quorum for this committee, which deals with the allotment of new securities in 
accordance with the general guidelines and principles as authorised by the Board of Directors. 
 
Internal Control Framework and Ethical Standards 

The Board of Directors seeks to identify the expectations of shareholders as well as other regulatory and ethical 
expectations and obligations. 
 
These matters are undertaken by the full Board together with the audit, compliance and corporate governance 
committee. In respect of the ethical standards, the full Board regularly discusses the maintenance by the Company of 
appropriate ethical standards in line with the Council’s recommendations. 
 
Risk 
 
The board acknowledges the Revised Supplementary Guidance to Principle 7 issued by the ASX in June 2008 and 
has continued its proactive approach to risk management. The identification and effective management of risk, 
including calculated risk-taking is viewed as an essential part of the company's approach to creating long-term 
shareholder value. 
 
In recognition of this, the board determines the company's risk profile and is responsible for overseeing and 
approving risk management strategy.  The audit, compliance and corporate governance committee reviews policies, 
internal compliance and internal control.  
 
The audit, compliance and corporate governance committee oversees the assessment of the effectiveness of risk 
management and internal compliance and control. The tasks of undertaking and assessing risk management and 
internal control effectiveness are delegated to management through the Chief Executive Officer and Financial 
Officer, including responsibility for the day to day design and implementation of the company's risk management 
and internal control system. 
 
Management reports to the audit, compliance and corporate governance committee on the company’s key risks and 
the extent to which it believes these risks are being adequately managed. The reporting on risk by management is a 
standing agenda items at board meetings. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
Business Risk 
 
The main areas of business risk, which are considered on an ongoing basis by the Board are: 
 
• Failure to develop commercial products from the company’s exploration and development activities 
• Ability to raise capital or generate free cash flow to fund future exploration and development activities 
• Failure to market the company’s products 
• General economic factors including those affecting interest and exchange rates 
• Changes in Corporations and Taxation Laws  
 
Occupational Health and Safety 
 
The Company is committed to providing a safe and healthy working environment for all staff.  It considers that 
safety is a collective responsibility and ensures that regular training in safe working methods is undertaken and 
encourages participation and involvement in the development of workplace safety programs.  Individual employees 
and employees of contractors are required to practice safe working habits, to take all reasonable care to prevent 
injury to themselves and their colleagues and to report all hazards and accidents. 

 
New staff and contractors (where appropriate) are required to undergo an induction program to familiarise 
themselves with policies, procedures and work practices prior to commencing work.  All staff are covered against 
injury under the various Workers’ Compensation Acts. 
 
CEO and CFO certification 
 
In accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act, the chief executive officer and chief financial officer have 
provided a written statement to the board that: 
 
• Their view provided on the Company's financial report is founded on a sound system of risk management 

and internal compliance and control which implements the financial policies adopted by the board 
• The Company's risk management and internal compliance and control system is operating effectively in all 

material respects 
 
The board agrees with the views of the ASX on this matter and notes that due to its nature, internal control assurance 
from the Managing Director and Financial Officer can only be reasonable rather than absolute. This is due to such 
factors as the need for judgement, the use of testing on a sample basis, the inherent limitations in internal control and 
because much of the evidence available is persuasive rather than conclusive and therefore is not and cannot be 
designed to detect all weaknesses in control procedures. In response to this, internal control questions are required to 
be completed by the key management personnel of all significant business units, including finance managers, in 
support of these written statements. 
 
Remuneration 
 
The board is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the directors themselves, the 
chief executive officer and executive team.  A Compensation (Remuneration) Committee has not been separately 
established, rather the function is performed within the Board Meetings given that the Company at this time has a 
Board comprising three members. 
 
It is the Company's objective to provide maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality board and 
executive team by remunerating directors and key executives fairly and appropriately with reference to relevant 
employment market conditions.  Where applicable, total remuneration for the Executive Director includes an annual 
salary and other entitlements. Attendance at and participation in Board and Committee meetings are considered 
among the duties of the Executive Director.  Non-Executive Directors receive fees for attending Board and 
Committee meetings.  Pro-rata fees are paid to Non-Executive Directors who serve for less than a full year.  None of 
the Directors or the Company Secretary have letters of appointment.  However, the Company is in the process of 
preparing appropriate letters of appointment. 
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Corporate Governance Statement (continued) 
For a full discussion of the Company's remuneration philosophy and framework and the remuneration received by 
directors and executives in the current period please refer to the remuneration report, which is contained within the 
directors’ report.  
 
Shareholder communication policy 
 
Hawthorn’s objective is to promote effective communication with its shareholders at all times. Hawthorn Resources 
Limited is committed to: 
 
• Ensuring that shareholders and the financial markets are provided with full and timely information about 

Hawthorn’s activities in a balanced and understandable way. 
• Complying with continuous disclosure obligations contained in applicable the ASX listing rules and the 

Corporations Act in Australia. 
• Communicating effectively with its shareholders and making it easier for shareholders to communicate 

with Hawthorn Resources Limited. 
 
To promote effective communication with share holders and encourage effective participation at general meetings, 
information is communicated to shareholders: 
 
• Through the release of information to the market via the ASX 
• Through the distribution of the annual report and Notices of Annual General Meeting 
• Through shareholder meetings and investor relations presentations 
• Through letters and other forms of communications directly to shareholders 
• By posting relevant information on the Hawthorn website www.hawthornresources.com. 
 
The Company’s website www.hawthornreseources.com has a dedicated Investor Relations section for the purpose of 
publishing all important company information and relevant announcements made to the market. The Company has 
also established an e-mail directory for the direct distribution of announcements made to the ASX. 
 
The external auditors are required to attend the Annual General Meeting and are available to answer any shareholder 
questions about the conduction of the audit and preparation of the audit report.  
 
Annual Reports are provided to all shareholders who have elected to receive the Report.  In addition the Company 
has established an electronic advice directory in which shareholders may register to receive by e-mail copy 
announcements. 
 
At the meetings of shareholders, Directors are subject to questioning by shareholders about the Directors' 
stewardship of the Company's affairs and it is shareholders who ultimately vote upon the financial statements and 
reports, the election of Directors, appointment of Auditors and any matters of Special Business. 
 
The Company does not web-cast shareholder meetings and does not believe that at this stage the cost-benefit of web 
casting is worthwhile to a Company of its size 
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Hawthorn Resources Limited 
Income Statement 

For the Year Ended 30 June 2009 

  

 
 

   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 
 Revenue from Continuing 
Operations 

    

                    
Finance revenue  
Gain on Consolidation 
Gain on disposal of assets 

3 
3 
 

 135,766
-
-

104,558 
404,131 

-

135,224 
- 
- 

93,625 
- 

1,498
Other income  3  673                       665 673 57,023
    
        
   136,439 509,354 135,897 152,146
    
    

Exploration expenditure impaired   (15,911,923) - (866,033) (286,189)
Administration expenses    (791,500) (891,848) (786,212) (939,843)
Depreciation expense   (12,533) (2,928) (12,353) (2,748)
Other expenses 
Impairment of available for sale 

investments 
Impairment of investment in 
    subsidiaries 
Share option expense 

  -

(391,676)

-

(203,885)

(555) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

-

- 
 

- 
 

(24,646,961) 
 

(203,885) 

(27,096) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

-
Finance costs 3  - (60) - -
    
Loss before income tax   (17,175,078) (386,037) (26,379,547) (1,103,730)
    
 Income tax year expense 4  - - - (109,202)
Loss for the period after tax 
from continuing operations   (17,175,078) (386,037) (26,379,547) (1,212,932)

    
Loss attributable to members   (17,175,078) (386,037) (26,379,547) (1,212,932)
    
Earnings per share    Cents Cents  
    
Basic loss per share for the year 
attributable to ordinary equity 
holders 

  (1.483) (0.057)  

    
Diluted loss per share for the year 
attributable to ordinary equity 
holders 

  (1.483) (0.057)  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The income statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the attached 
financial statements. 
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Hawthorn Resources Limited 
Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2009 

 

  

 
   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 
ASSETS     
     
Current Assets     
     
Cash and cash equivalents 6  1,897,911 3,761,907 1,877,236 3,749,723
Receivables 7  50,280 100,235 48,773 75,531
Other current assets 8  2,151 9,318 2,151 1,547

Total Current Assets   1,950,342 3,871,460 1,928,160 3,826,801

     
Non-Current Assets    
    
Other financial assets 9  248,364 601,278 1,756,696 26,734,350
Exploration expenditure 10  8,476,914 23,103,916 7,225,803 6,916,943
Plant and equipment 11  36,768 49,301 36,437 48,790

Total Non-Current Assets   8,762,046 23,754,495 9,018,936 33,700,083

TOTAL ASSETS   10,712,388 27,625,955 10,947,096 37,526,884

 
 

   

LIABILITIES    
    
Current Liabilities    
    
Trade and other payables 12  319,089 300,225 814,925 197,309

Total Current Liabilities   319,089 300,225 814,925 197,309

Non-Current Liabilities    

Other financial liabilities 13  - - - 691,049

Total Non-Current Liabilities   - - - 691,049

TOTAL LIABILITIES  
 

319,089 300,225 814,925 888,358

NET ASSETS   10,393,299 27,325,730 10,132,171 36,638,526

    
 
EQUITY  

     

      
Share capital 14  34,057,764 34,057,764 85,792,054 85,792,054
Reserves 15  1,663,234 1,420,587 1,267,050 1,393,858
Accumulated losses   (25,327,699) (8,152,621) (76,926,933) (50,547,386)

TOTAL EQUITY  
 

10,393,299 27,325,730 10,132,171 36,638,526

 
 
 
 
 
 

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the attached financial 
statements 
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Hawthorn Resources Limited 
Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2009 

 

  

 
 
 

   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 
     
Cash flows from operating 
activities 

   

    
Payments in the course of 
operations 

  (714,840) (982,101) (637,605) (1,013,291)

Interest received   135,766 104,558 135,224 92,625

Net cash used in operating 
activities 18 (a) 

 
(579,074)

 
(877,543) (502,381) (920,666)

    
Cash flows from investing 
activities 

   

    

Payments for exploration 
expenditure 

  (1,284,922) (705,210) (1,174,893) (959,385)

Acquisition of plant and 
equipment 

  - (9,284) - (26,863)

Loans to other entity   - - (195,213) -
Proceeds from sale of 
investments 

  - - - 158,434

Acquisition of Hawthorn 
Resources – net of cash required 18 (b)  - 3,271,163 - -

Net cash (used in)/provided by 
investing activities  

 
(1,284,922)

 
2,556,669 (1,370,106) (827,814)

    
Cash flows from financing 
activities 

  

     
Proceeds from issue of shares  - 480 - 4,255,312
Proceeds from borrowings  - - - 691,049

Net cash provided by financing 
activities 

 
- 480 - 4,946,361

    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents 

 (1,863,996) 1,679,606 (1,872,487) 3,197,882

   
Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of period  

 3,761,907 2,082,301 3,749,723 551,841

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of period 6 

  
1,897,911

 
3,761,907 1,877,236 3,749,723

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The cash flow statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the attached 
financial statements. 
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Hawthorn Resources Limited 
Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2009 

 

  

 
 

 Issued 
Capital 

$ 

Accumulated 
Losses 

$ 

Reserves 
$ 

Total 
Equity 

$ 

CONSOLIDATED                     Note     
At 30 June 2007 23,855,637 (7,766,584) 1,458,849 17,547,902 
     

Loss for the year - (386,037) - (386,037)

Net loss on available-for-sale 
investments                                  15 - - (38,262) (38,262)

Issue of share capital                   14 481 - - 481

Shares deemed to be issued as a 
result of scheme of arrangement  14 10,201,646 - - 10,201,646

At 30 June 2008 34,057,764 (8,152,621) 1,420,587 27,325,730 
     
Loss for the year - (17,175,078) - (17,175,078)
 
Net gain on available-for-sale        
investments                                  15 
 
Share-based payments charge    15 

 
- 
 
 

- 

 
- 
 
 

- 

 
38,762 

 
 

203,885 

 
38,762 

 
 

203,885

At 30 June 2009 34,057,764 (25,327,699) 1,663,234 10,393,299 

 
COMPANY     

At 30 June 2007 55,371,312 (49,334,454) 1,722,151 7,759,009 
     

Loss for the year 
 - (1,212,932) - (1,212,932)

Net loss on available-for-sale      15 
investments 
 
Issue of share capital                  14 
 
Share issue costs                        14 
 

 
- 
 

30,665,429 
 

(244,687) 
 

 
- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

 
(461,702) 

 
- 
 

- 
 

 
(461,702) 

 
30,665,429 

 
(244,687) 

Share-based payments charge   15  
- - 24,207 24,207

Income tax                                  15 - - 109,202 109,202

At 30 June 2008 85,792,054 (50,547,386) 1,393,858 36,638,526 

     

Loss for the year - (26,379,547) - (26,379,547)
    
Net loss on available-for-sale 
investments                               15 - - (330,693) (330,693)

Share-based payments charge 15 - - 203,885 
 

203,885 

At 30 June 2009 85,792,054 (76,926,933) 1,267,050 10,132,171 

 
The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the attached 
financial statements. 

35



Hawthorn Resources Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2009 

 

 

 
1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

(a) Reporting Entity 
 
Hawthorn Resources Limited (the “Company”) is a public company domiciled in Australia. The principal 
activity of the Company during the financial year was mineral exploration.  There has been no significant 
change in the nature of that activity during the financial year. 
 
The financial report includes separate financial statements for Hawthorn Resources Limited as an 
individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of Hawthorn Resources Limited and its controlled 
entities.  The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on the date of this report. 

 
(b) Basis of preparation 

 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars. The financial report has been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of available-for-sale financial assets that have been 
measured at fair value in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires 
management to make significant judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 
 
Judgements made by management in the application of Australian Accounting Standards that have a 
significant effect on the financial report and estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the 
next year are discussed in note 1(d)(xx). 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the 
financial report. 
 

(c) Statement of compliance 
 

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (‘AASBs’) (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) adopted by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AIFRSs).  Compliance with AIFRSs ensures that the consolidated and parent financial 
statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).   
 
(d) Summary of significant accounting policies 

 
(i) Foreign currency translation 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the exchange 
rates ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
 
All differences in the financial report are taken to the income statement. 

 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate as at the date of the initial transaction. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d) 

 
(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

 
(ii) Revenue 
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.   

 
Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

 
(iii) Finance costs 
Financing costs comprise interest payable on other payables and borrowings.  Interest is 
recognised as an expense when incurred.  Hawthorn Resources Limited does not currently hold 
qualifying assets but, if it did, the borrowings costs directly associated with the asset would be 
capitalised. 

 
(iv) Leases 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term. 

 
(v) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and short-term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, net of bank overdrafts. 

 
(vi) Receivables 
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts.  An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection of the full amount is 
no longer probable.  Bad debts are written off when identified. 

 
(vii)  Impairment of assets 
The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired.  If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Company makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in use cannot be estimated to be 
close to its fair value.  In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs. 
 
When the carrying amount of an asset of a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, 
the asset or cash generating unit is impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the asset.  Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are 
recognised in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset unless 
the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease). 

 
An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is an indication that 
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  If that is the case the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount.  That increased amount cannot exceed 
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior years.  Such reversal is recognised in income statement 
unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d) 

 
(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

 
(vii) Impairment of assets (Cont’d) 
treated as a revaluation increase.  After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in 
future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a 
systematic basis over its remaining useful life. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. 

 
(viii) Income tax 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used 
to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet 
date. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the period.  The Company has 
not derived taxable income in either the current or previous periods. 
 
Deferred income tax is determined using the balance sheet method which calculates temporary 
differences on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. 
 
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each balance date and are recognised 
to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred asset to be 
recovered. 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. 
 
Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the 
income statement. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to 
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities to 
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
 
(ix) Other taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
 
• where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and 

 
• receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 
 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis and the GST component of 
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, 
the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or 
payable to the taxation authority. 

 
(x) Other financial assets 
All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given and 
including acquisition charges associated with the investment. 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d) 
 

(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

(x) Other financial assets (Cont’d) 
After initial recognition, investments, which are classified as held for trading and available-for-sale, 
are measured at fair value.  Gains or losses on investments held for trading are recognised in the 
income statement. 
 
Gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are recognised as a separate component of 
equity until the investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment is 
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is 
included in the income statement. 
 
For investments that are actively traded in organised financial markets, fair value is determined by 
reference to Stock Exchange quoted market bid prices at the close of business on the balance 
sheet date. 
 
For investments where there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined by reference to the 
current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same or is calculated based 
on the expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the investment. 
 
Purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame 
generally established by regulation or convention in the market place are recognised on the trade 
date i.e. the date that the Company commits to purchase the asset. 

 
(xi) Plant and Equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses [see accounting policy (vii)]. 
 
Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated useful 
life of the assets. The estimated useful life of motor vehicles and plant and equipment is between 3 
and 5 years. 
 
The asset’s residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed and adjusted if 
appropriate, at each financial year end. 
 
When an asset’s carrying value is increased as a result of a revaluation, the increase is, except to 
the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the 
income statement, credited directly to revaluation reserve. 
 
When an asset’s carrying amount is decreased as a result of a revaluation, the decrease is, except 
to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation reserve in respect of that asset, 
recognised in the income statement. 
 
The revaluation surplus is transferred directly to retained earnings when the asset is derecognised. 

 
(xii) Exploration 
Exploration expenditure is capitalised for each separate area of interest where rights to tenure are 
current and: 

 
(a) such costs are expected to be recovered through successful development and exploitation or 

by sale; or 
 
(b) where activities in the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits 

reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves 
and active and significant operations in relation to the area are continuing. 

 
Ultimate recoupment of exploration expenditure carried forward is dependent on successful 
development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective areas. 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d) 
 

(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 

(xii) Exploration (Cont’d) 
The carrying values of expenditures carried forward are reviewed for impairment at each reporting 
date when the facts, events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be 
impaired.  Accumulated expenditures are written off to the income statement to the extent to which 
they are considered to be impaired. 
 
The key points that are considered in this review include: 
• planned drilling programs and data evaluation 
• environmental issues that may impact the underlying tenements 
• the estimated market value of assets at the review date. 
 
Information used in the review process is rigorously tested to externally available information as 
appropriate. 

 
(xiii) Joint venture operations 
The interest of the Company in unincorporated joint ventures are brought to account by recognising 
in its financial statements the assets it controls, the liabilities it incurs and the expenses it incurs in 
relation to the joint venture. 

 
(xiv) Trade and other payables 
Trade and other payables are stated at cost. Payables due to other entities are recognised at cost. 
Interest incurred is taken up as a finance cost. 

 
(xv) Interest-bearing borrowings 
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised at cost.  After initial recognition interest-bearing 
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value, if 
any, being recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings on an effective 
interest basis. 

 
(xvi) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.  If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the 
liability. 

 
(xvii) Share-based payments 
Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees, Directors, officers or consultants of 
the Company or an associated body corporate and such other persons nominated by the Directors 
under the Hawthorn Resources Limited 2005 Share Option Plan which allows participants to 
acquire shares of the Company. 
 
The fair value of options granted is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in 
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and spread over the period during which the 
participants become unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value of the options granted is 
measured using the black scholes option pricing model, taking into account the terms and 
conditions upon which the options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted 
to reflect the actual number of share options that are expected to vest at each balance sheet date. 

 
(xviii) Share capital 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares and options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d) 
 
 (d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 
 
 (xix) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments 
 The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial report based on historical

knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future 
events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the
Group. 

 Key Estimates 
 (i) Impairment 
  The Company assesses impairment of non-current assets (other financial assets, exploration 

expenditure and plant and equipment) at each reporting date by evaluating conditions and events 
specific to the Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers.  Recoverable amounts of
relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key 
assumptions or fair value less costs to sell.   

 Key Judgments 
 (ii) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 
  The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure

requires judgement in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits are likely, 
which may be based on assumptions about future events or circumstances. Estimates and
assumptions made may change if new information becomes available. If, after expenditure is
capitalised, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, 
the amount capitalised is written off in the income statement in the period when the new
information becomes available. 

 
Management discussed with the Board the development, selection and disclosure of the 
Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates. The estimates and judgements that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Note 1(d)(xii) contains information about the key points/assumptions that relate to the company’s 
evaluation of exploration expenditure impairment. 

 
 

(xx) Principles of Consolidation 
Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements comprise those of the Company, and the entities it controlled 
at the end of, or during, the financial year. The company and its controlled entities together are 
referred to in this financial report as the consolidated entity.   

 
The balances and effects of transactions between entities in the consolidated entity included in the 
financial statements have been eliminated. Where an entity either began or ceased to be controlled 
during the year, the results are included only from the date control commenced or up to the date 
control ceased. The accounting policies adopted in preparing the financial statements have been 
consistently applied by the entities in the consolidated entity. 

 
The acquisition of Ellendale Resources NL (“Ellendale”) on 10 June 2008 was treated as a reverse 
acquisition in accordance with AASB 3 “Business Combinations” whereby Ellendale is considered 
the accounting acquirer on the basis that Ellendale is the controlling entity in the transaction.  As a 
result, Ellendale is the continuing entity for consolidated accounting purposes and the legal parent 
Hawthorn Resources Limited is the accounting subsidiary. 

 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of 
Hawthorn Resources Limited. 
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont’d) 
 

 
 (e) Financial risk management 

 
The Company’s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables and cash. These 
activities expose the Company to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk 
and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
Although the Company does not have documented policies and procedures, Management 
manages the different types of risks to which it is exposed by considering risk and monitoring levels 
of exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange risk and by being aware of market forecasts for 
interest rate, foreign exchange and commodity prices. Ageing analyses and monitoring of specific 
credit allowances are undertaken to manage credit risk, and liquidity risk is monitored through 
general business budgets and forecasts. 
 

 (f)  Capital Management 
 
The Company’s policy in relation to capital management is for management to regularly and 
consistently monitor future cash flows against expected expenditures. The Board determines the 
Company’s need for additional funding by way of either share placements or loan funds depending 
on market conditions at the time. Management defines working capital in such circumstances as its 
excess liquid funds over liabilities, and defines capital as being the ordinary share capital of the 
Company. 
 
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year. 
 

 (g)     New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods 
 

The AASB has issued new, revised and amended standards and interpretations that have
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods. The Company has decided against early 
adoption of these standards.  A discussion of those future requirements and their impact on the 
Company is as follows: 

 
•  AASB 3: Business Combinations, AASB 127: Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,

AASB 2008-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 3 and AASB
127 [AASBs 1,2,4,5,7,101,107, 112, 114, 116, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138 & 139
and Interpretations 9 & 107] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 July
2009) and AASB 2008-7: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Cost of an 
Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate [AASB 1, AASB 118, AASB 121,
AASB 127 & AASB 136] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 January
2009).  These standards are applicable prospectively and so will only affect relevant transactions 
and consolidations occurring from the date of application.  In this regard, its impact on the Group
will be unable to be determined. The following changes to accounting requirements are included: 

 •  acquisition costs incurred in a business combination will no longer be recognised in 
goodwill but will be expensed unless the cost relates to issuing debt or equity securities; 

 • a gain or loss of control will require the previous ownership interests to be remeasured to
their fair value; 

 • There shall be no gain or loss from transactions affecting a parent’s ownership interest of a
subsidiary with all transactions required to be accounted for through equity (this will not
represent a change to the Company’s policy); 

 • dividends declared out of pre-acquisition profits will not be deducted from the cost of an
investment but will be recognised as income; 

 • impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates shall be
considered when a dividend is paid by the respective investee; and 
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(g)     New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Cont’d) 
 
 • where there is, in substance, no change to Company interests, parent entities inserted 

above existing groups shall measure the cost of its investments at the carrying amount of 
its share of the equity items shown in the balance sheet of the original parent at the date of
reorganisation. 

  The Company will need to determine whether to maintain its present accounting policy of
calculating goodwill acquired based on the parent entity’s share of net assets acquired or change
its policy so goodwill recognised also reflects that of the non-controlling interest. 

• AASB 8: Operating Segments and AASB 2007-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 8 [AASB 5, AASB 6, AASB 102, AASB 107, AASB 119, AASB 127,
AASB 134, AASB 136, AASB 1023 & AASB 1038] (applicable for annual reporting periods
commencing from 1 January 2009). AASB 8 replaces AASB 114 and requires identification of
operating segments on the basis of internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s
Board for the purposes of decision making.  While the impact of this standard cannot be assessed
at this stage, there is the potential for more segments to be identified.  Given the lower economic 
levels at which segments may be defined, and the fact that cash generating units cannot be bigger
than operating segments, impairment calculations may be affected.  Management does not
presently believe impairment will result however. 

• AASB 101: Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB 2007-8: Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101, and AASB 2007-10: Further Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101 (all applicable to annual reporting periods 
commencing from 1 January 2009).  The revised AASB 101 and amendments supersede the
previous AASB 101 and redefines the composition of financial statements including the inclusion
of a statement of comprehensive income.  There will be no measurement or recognition impact on 
the Company. If an entity has made a prior period adjustment or reclassification, a third balance
sheet as at the beginning of the comparative period will be required. 

• AASB 123: Borrowing Costs and AASB 2007-6: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 123 [AASB 1, AASB 101, AASB 107, AASB 111, AASB 116 & AASB 138 and
Interpretations 1 & 12] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 January 2009).
The revised AASB 123 has removed the option to expense all borrowing costs and will therefore
require the capitalisation of all borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of a qualifying asset.  Management has determined that there will be no effect on the 
Company as a policy of capitalising qualifying borrowing costs has been maintained by the 
Company. 

• AASB 2008-1: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard – Share-based Payments: Vesting 
Conditions and Cancellations [AASB 2] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 
1 January 2009).  This amendment to AASB 2 clarifies that vesting conditions consist of service
and performance conditions only.  Other elements of a share-based payment transaction should 
therefore be considered for the purposes of determining fair value.  Cancellations are also
required to be treated in the same manner whether cancelled by the entity or by another party. 

• AASB 2008-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Puttable Financial Instruments 
and Obligations Arising on Liquidation [AASB 7, AASB 101, AASB 132  & AASB 139 &
Interpretation 2] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 January 2009).
These amendments introduce an exception to the definition of a financial liability to classify as 
equity instruments certain puttable financial instruments and certain other financial instruments
that impose an obligation to deliver a pro-rata share of net assets only upon liquidation. 

• AASB 2008-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project (July 2008) (AASB 2008-5) and AASB 2008-6: Further Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project (July 2008)
(AASB 2008-6) detail numerous non-urgent but necessary changes to accounting standards 
arising from the IASB’s annual improvements project.  No changes are expected to materially 
affect the Company. 
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(g)     New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods (Cont’d) 
• AASB 2008-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Eligible Hedged Items [AASB 

139] (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 July 2009). This amendment 
clarifies how the principles that determine whether a hedged risk or portion of cash flows is eligible 
for designation as a hedged item should be applied in particular situations and is not expected to
materially affect the Comapny. 

• AASB 2008-13: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB
Interpretation 17 – Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners [AASB 5 & AASB 110] (applicable 
for annual reporting periods commencing from 1 July 2009).  This amendment requires that non-
current assets held for distribution to owners to be measured at the lower of carrying value and fair 
value less costs to distribute. 

• AASB Interpretation 17: Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners (applicable for annual 
reporting periods commencing from 1 July 2009).   This guidance applies prospectively only and 
clarifies that non-cash dividends payable should be measured at the fair value of the net assets to
be distributed where the difference between the fair value and carrying value of the assets is
recognised in profit or loss.   
 

 The Company does not anticipate early adoption of any of the above reporting requirements and does 
not expect these requirements to have any material effect on the Company’s financial statements. 

 
 

2. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
  

The principal business and geographical segment of the Company is mineral exploration within Australia. 
Due to a single main entity and one geographical area of operating, a single operating and geographical 
segment was identified. 
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3. REVENUE AND EXPENSES 
 
Loss before income tax expense includes the following revenues and expenses whose disclosure is relevant in 
explaining the performance of the Consolidated Entity and the Company: 

   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
(i) Revenue        

 Interest   135,766 104,558  135,224 - 
 Related parties 20  - -  - 3,143 
 Other   - -  - 90,482 

Total finance revenue   135,766 104,558  135,224 93,625 

 
(ii) Other Income 

       

 Sale of securities   - -  - 57,440 
 Sundry income   673 665  673 (417) 

Total other income   673 665  673 57,023 

      
(iii)  Finance Costs 

  
-

 
60

 
- 

 
- 

 Other        
 
(iv) Gain on Disposal of Assets 
 

  
- 

 

- 
 

 - 
 

1,498 
 

(v) Gain on Acquisition via 
Scheme of Arrangement 
 

  
- 404,131  - - 

 

(vi)  Auditor’s remuneration      
 Audit services - PKF 
   Audit services - KPMG 

38,000 
-

50,000 
37,998

38,000 
- 

50,000 
-

 Other services – PKF 
(Shareholder resolution poll)  - 1,500 - -

Total auditor’s remuneration 38,000 89,498 38,000 50,000
 
4. TAXATION 

(a) Income tax expense        
Prima facie income tax 
benefit calculated at 30% 
on the loss 

  
(5,152,523)

 
(237,050) 

  
(7,913,864) 

 
(331,119)

 
Add: 
 

      

Tax Losses not recognised   200,277 219,189 
 

 198,800 
 

- 
 

Consultants overseas fees 
& expenses 

  
-

 

 
227 

 

  
- 
 

 
- 
 

Exploration expenditure impaired 
 

 4,773,577
 

-  259,810 
 

85,857 
 

Capital – consultants 
 

  - 15,131  - 
 

- 
 

Legal expenses 
 

  - 2,503 
 

 - 
 

- 
 

Capital Diminution  
 

 - -  - 
 

127 
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4. TAXATION  (Cont’d) 

 
 

   
 

Consolidated 

 
 

Company 

   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
 
Reversal of prior year tax        
Benefit  - - - 354,337 
Impairment of investment in 
subsidiary 

 - - 7,394,088 - 

Impairment of available for 
sale investments 

 117,503 - - - 

Share option expense  61,166 - 61,166 - 
Income tax 
expense/(benefit) 

  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
109,202 

 
 

(b)  Amounts charged or credited directly to equity 
 
   Deferred income tax related to items 

Available-for-sale 
investments 

  
-

 
-

  
- 

 
(109,202)

        
 

(c) Deferred tax asset not recognised 
The deferred tax asset in respect of tax losses of the Company for the year has not been recognised as an 
asset in the financial statements as the realisation of the benefit is not able to be quantified at this time. 
 
Deferred tax asset has been calculated at 30%. 
 
The potential deferred tax asset not recognised is as follows: 
 
Revenue losses   19,706,378 19,164,942 17,126,974 16,620,025
Capital losses   556,787 556,787 556,067 556,067

 
 
5. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Basic earnings per share 
The calculations of basic earnings per share is calculated as follows: 

        
        

        
Loss for the year   (17,175,078) (386,037)  
        

   Consolidated  
   2009 2008    

   Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares

  

Weighted average number 
of ordinary shares at the 
end of the financial year 

  
1,158,066,830 681,748,406  

Earnings Per Share (cents)   (1.483) (0.057)   

 
Diluted earnings per share 
 
204,870,366 (year ended 30 June 2008: 202,370,366) options at reporting date were not dilutive as the 
conversion would result in a reduced loss per share. 
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   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

       
Cash at bank   1,897,911 3,761,907 1,877,236 3,749,723

 
 
7. RECEIVABLES 

       
CURRENT      
Non-trade receivables      
Other (i)  50,280 100,235 48,773 75,531
(i) Other relates to GST receivable.  

Amounts are current and not past due. 
 
8. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 

       
CURRENT      
       
Prepayments  2,151 9,318  2,151 1,547

 
 
9. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

        

  
      

Available for sale 
investments at fair value 
 

 
 

246,990 600,440
 

236,853 
 

568,083

At fair value     
Investments through profit 
and loss  
 

 
 

1,773,137 1,773,137 1,773,137 1,773,137 

Less impairment    (1,771,763) (1,772,299) (1,771,763) (1,772,299) 
   1,374 838 1,374 838 
       

Investment in subsidiaries 
at cost   - - 1,518,469 *  26,165,429 

 
 

  248,364 601,278 1,756,696 26,734,350 

 
 
* As a result of an independent review and valuation of an exploration asset in a subsidiary, an impairment write-
down of $14.96 million was made during the year.  
 
In addition, in the previous financial year, the 2008 Scheme of Arrangement created a notional investment in the 
subsidiary for the Company of $10 million as a result of accounting the transaction as a reverse acquisition. The 
amount of that notional investment was also impaired during the year as a result of this independent valuation. 
Refer to Note 10 for further information. 
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   Consolidated Company 

   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
10. EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE 
 

Areas in the exploration 
phase 

      

At cost   8,476,914 23,103,916 7,225,803 6,916,943 
 
An independent review and valuation of the Clarke River Uranium Project (“the Project”), which was 
commissioned by the company during the 30 June 2009 financial year, has concluded that the Project has a fair 
value of $240,000 as compared with the 2008 carrying value in the accounts of Ellendale Resources Pty Ltd of 
$15.2 million, resulting in an impairment write-down. The valuation utilised a number of different valuation 
methodologies applicable to exploration assets to determine the fair value of $240,000.  These methodologies 
result in a fair value determination effectively utilising the fair value less costs to sell methodology under  AASB 
136 “Impairment of Assets”. 
 
Movement in the carrying value of exploration expenditure during the year was: 

   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
   $ $  $ $ 

 
        

Opening balance at 1 July   23,103,916 15,549,706  6,916,943 5,957,558 
Costs incurred during the year 1,284,921 705,210  1,174,893 1,245,574 
Acquired through business 
combination 

  - 6,849,000  - - 

Exploration expenditure 
impaired during the year 

  (15,911,923) -  (866,033) (286,189) 

Balance at 30 June 8,476,914 23,103,916 7,225,803 6,916,943 

 
11. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

Plant, Equipment & Motor 
Vehicles 
Cost Balance at 1 July 

   
 

68,692 

 
 

917 
 

 
 

67,775 

 
 

40,912 
Acquisitions   - 67,775  - 26,863 

Balance at 30 June   68,692 68,692  67,775 67,775 

 
        

Accumulated Depreciation        
Balance at 1 July   19,391 406  18,985 9,779 
Depreciation charge for the 
year 

  12,533 18,985  12,353 9,206 

Balance at 30 June   31,924 19,391 31,338 18,985 

        
Carrying Amounts        
At 1 July   49,301 511  48,790 31,133 

At 30 June   36,768 49,301  36,437 48,790 
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   Consolidated Company 

   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

Payables and accrued 
expenses   319,089 300,225  319,089 197,309 

Inter-company payable – 
advances at call and non-
interest bearing 

 
 

- -  495,836 - 

   319,089 300,225  814,925 197,309 

 
13. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

NON-CURRENT        
Inter-company advances (i)   - - - 691,049 

(i) Represents cash advances from 
subsidiary companies represent 
an investment to finance the cost 
of exploration expenditure and 
operating activities.   

 
14. SHARE CAPITAL 

Opening Balance   34,057,764 23,855,637  85,792,054 55,371,312 
Issued via exercise of options 
July 2007 

 - 481 - - 

Issued December 2007 for 
cash pursuant to share 
placement (3.5c per share) 

 
- -  - 1,960,000 

Issued January 2008 for cash 
pursuant to share placement 
(3.5c per share) 

 
- -  - 2,540,000 

Issued June 2008 per the 
scheme of Arrangement 

 - 10,201,646  - 26,165,429 

Transaction costs on share 
issue 

 - -  - (244,687) 

Balance at Year End  34,057,764 34,057,764  85,792,054 85,792,054 

 
 
 

   Company 

      2009 2008 
      No. of Shares No. of Shares 

 
Opening Balance      1,158,066,830 375,359,658 
 
Issued via exercise of options July 2007  - - 

       
Issued December 2007 for cash pursuant to share 
placement (3.5c per share)   - 56,000,000 

 
Issued January 2008 for cash pursuant to share 
placement (3.5c per share) 

  - 72,571,428 

 
Issued June 2008 per the scheme of Arrangement   - 654,135,744 

Balance at Year End     1,158,066,830 1,158,066,830 
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14. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d) 
 
Terms and Conditions of Issued Capital 
 
Ordinary Shares (quoted): 
Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled 
to one vote per share at shareholders meetings. In the event of winding up of the Company ordinary 
shareholders rank after all other shareholders and creditors and are fully entitled to any proceeds of 
liquidation. 
 
Options (quoted): 
(i) 13,716,713 options are on issue at an exercise price of $1.25 which, if exercised, will entitle the option 
holders to 1 fully paid share in the Company for each option. Options not exercised by 22 September 
2010 will lapse. None of these options were exercised during the year. 
 
(ii) 13,569,422 options are on issue at an exercise price of $0.20 per option which, if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to 1 fully paid share in the Company for each option. Options not exercised by 30 April 
2012 will lapse. None of these options were exercised during the year. 
 
(iii) 165,084,231 options are on issue at an exercise price of $0.10 per option which if exercised, will 
entitle the option holders to 1 fully paid share in the Company for each option. Options not exercised by 
28 February 2013 will lapse. None of these options were exercised during the year. 
 
Options (unquoted) 
(i) 10,000,000 options are on issue at an exercise price of $0.10 per option which if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to 1 fully paid share in the Company for each option. Options not exercised by 25 
January 2018 will lapse. None of these options were exercised during the year. The options were issued 
in January 2008, pursuant to a resolution of shareholders, whereby 10,000,000 options in total were 
issued at an exercise price of $0.10 per option to directors M. Kerr and M. Elliott. 
 
 
(ii) 2,500,000 options are on issue at an exercise price of $0.10 per option which if exercised, will entitle 
the option holders to 1 fully paid share in the Company for each option. Options not exercised by 30 June 
2018 will lapse. None of these options were exercised during the year. Further details on options is 
included in Note 16. 
 

   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
15. RESERVES  
 

Option premium reserve   1,459,349 1,459,349  720,775 720,775 
Share option based payment 
reserve 

 203,885 - 308,885 105,000 

Available for sale investments 
at fair value reserve 

 - 
 

(38,762) 
  237,390 

 
568,083 

 

 
 

1,663,234 1,420,587  1,267,050 1,393,858 

 
Movement in reserves  
Share option reserve:         
at 1 July    - -  105,000 80,793 
Fair value share options 
lapsed 

 - - - (80,793) 

Amortisation of fair value of 
employee share options 

 203,885 -  203,885 105,000 

At 30 June 
 

203,885 -  308,885 105,000 
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   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
15. RESERVES (Cont’d) 
 

Available for sale investments 
at fair value reserve: 

      

at 1 July  (38,762) (500)  568,083 920,583 
Net gain/(loss) on available-
for-sale financial assets 

 38,762 (38,262) (330,693) (461,702) 

Income tax  - -  - 109,202 

At 30 June 
 

- (38,762)  237,390 568,083 
 
 

Option premium reserve 
The option premium reserve represents the amounts contributed for the future right to acquire shares at a 
pre-determined price. The three listed class of options details are ;  
HAWO have an exercise price of 20 cents and a latest expiry date of 30 April 2012. 
HAWOA have an exercise price of $1.25 and a latest expiry date of 22 September 2010. 
HAWOB have an exercise price of 10 cents and a latest expiry date of 28 February 2013. 
 
In July 2007, Ellendale Resources granted 159.5 million options to its members. Subsequently in June 
2008, as a result of the approval and completion of the Scheme of Arrangement, Hawthorn Resources 
Limited acquired all of the options, together with all of the issued shares in Ellendale Resources. 
 
Available for sale investments at fair value reserve 
The available for sale investments at fair value reserve represents the cumulative net change in the fair 
value of available-for-sale investments until the investment is derecognised. 

 
Share based payment reserve 
The share option reserve represents the accumulated amortisation of the fair value of services provided 
with respect to employee share options issued. Details of the share option plan are outlined in Note 16. 

 
 
16. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 

At the 2005 Annual General Meeting, the Company established the Hawthorn Resources Limited 2005 
Share Option Plan which allows employees, Directors, officers or consultants of the Company or an 
associated body corporate and such other persons nominated by the Directors to participate in the plan. 
 
Grants of options made under this plan are as follows: 
 
(i) On 1 July 2008, 2,500,000 options were issued at an exercise price of $0.10. Option holders must 
remain eligible (which would usually mean remaining eligible person although the Board has some 
discretion to allow continued participation in the event of an eligible person’s death, mental incapacity, ill 
health, accident or redundancy) to participate in the plan throughout the one (1) year vesting period and  
can be exercised at any time following vesting up to 30 June 2018. All options, if exercised, will be settled 
by physical delivery of the shares. 
 
(ii) 10,000,000 options were issued in January 2008 at an exercise price of $0.10 per option which if 
exercised, will entitle the option holders to 1 fully paid share in the Company for each option. Options not 
exercised by 25 January 2018 will lapse. None of these options were exercised during the year. The 
options were issued pursuant to a resolution of shareholders at a general meeting, whereby 10,000,000 
options in total were issued to directors M. Kerr and M. Elliott. (Refer below for further details on the terms 
of the options). These options have therefore been granted outside of the share option plan disclosed 
above. 
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16. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d) 

 
The number and weighted average exercise price of share options on issue resulting from share based 
payment expense is as follows: 

 

 2009 2008 
 Weighted 

average 
exercise 

price
Number of 

options

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
Number of 

options
Outstanding at the beginning of the 
year $0.100 10,000,000 $0.100 8,600,000
Granted during the year $0.100 2,500,000 $0.100 10,000,000
Forfeited during the year $0.100 - $0.100 8,600,000

Outstanding at the end of the year $0.100 12,500,000 $0.100 10,000,000

Exercisable at the end of the year - 10,000,000 - -

 
The options outstanding at 30 June 2009 have an exercise price of $0.10, with 10,000,000 options having 
a remaining contractual life of 8.5 years to January 2018, and 2,500,000 options having a remaining 
contractual life of 9 years to June 2018. 
 
The value of services received in return for employee share options granted are measured by reference 
to the fair value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is 
measured based on a black scholes option pricing model. The contractual life of the option is used as an 
input into this model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial option pricing 
model.  

  Company 
    2009 2008 

 

Fair value of shares, options 
and assumptions 

      

       
Fair value at grant date     2.5 cents 2.5 cents 
Share price at grant date     3.6 cents 3.7 cents 
Exercise price     10.0 cents 10.0 cents 
Expected volatility (estimated 
average volatility used in the 
modelling under binomial 
option pricing model) 

  

  100% 146% 

Option life (expressed as 
weighted average life used in 
the modelling under binomial 
option pricing model) 

  

  10 years 10 years 

Expected dividends     Nil Nil 
Risk-free interest rate (based 
on Australian Government 
five-year bond rate at grant 
date) 

  

  5.28% 6.19% 
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16. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (Cont’d) 
 
The expected volatility is based on the recent historic volatility of comparable listed companies (calculated 
based on the mid point remaining life of the share options) adjusted for any expected changes to future 
volatility due to publicly available information. 
 
Employee share options are granted under service conditions. No market or non-market performance 
conditions are taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of the services received. 
 

 2009 2008 
 $ $ 
Employee expenses   
Share options granted   
Total expense recognised as employee cost 203,885 105,000 
 

 
 
17. INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES 

2009 2008 
 

The Company has an interest in the following joint ventures:   
   
Edjudina – Pinjin (Avoca Resources Limited) 80% 80% 
Trouser Legs (Gel Resources Pty Limited) 70% 70% 

 
The principal activity of the joint ventures is mineral exploration.  
 
Avoca Resources Limited has a 20% interest that is free carried to decision to mine. 
 
Included in the assets and liabilities of the Company are the following assets and liabilities employed in 
the joint ventures: 
 

   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
Non-Current Assets        
Exploration expenditure  1,370,569 1,210,363 1,370,569 1,210,363 
Total Non-Current Assets  1,370,569 1,210,363 1,370,569 1,210,363 
Total Assets  1,370,569 1,210,363 1,370,569 1,210,363 
      
Current Liabilities      
Trade and other payables  - - - - 
Total Non-Current Assets  - - - - 
Total Liabilities  - - - - 

      
Included in the Company commitments (note 19) are the following commitments in relation to the joint 
ventures: 
 
 

Exploration        
Not later than 1 year  478,990 312,010 478,990 312,010 
Later than one year but not 
later than five years 

 1,612,650 696,240 1,612,650 696,240 

Later than five years but not 
later than twenty one years 

 91,300 63,950 91,300 63,950 

Total  2,182,940 1,072,200 2,182,940 1,072,200 
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   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
18. CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 
 

(a) Reconciliation of 
loss after tax to net cash 
used in  operating activities 

  
     

        
Loss for the period after tax   (17,175,078) (386,037)  (26,379,547) (1,212,932) 
        
Adjustment for 
: 

       

(Profit) on disposal of non-
current assets 

  - -  - (57,440) 

Impairment of exploration 
expenditure 

  15,911,924 -  866,033 - 

Impairment of investment 
in subsidiaries 

  - -  24,646,961 - 

Unrealised loss of 
available-for-sale 
investments 
 

  

391,676 -  - - 

Depreciation   12,533 
 

2,928 
  12,353 

 
9,206 

 
 
Share option based 
payments 

   
203,885 

 
-   

203,885 
 

- 

 
Employee share option 
plan amortisation 

  
- -  - (24,600) 

Gain on Consolidation   - (404,131)  - - 
        
Net cash used in operating 
activities before change in 
assets and liabilities 

  
(665,060) (787,240)  (650,315) (1,285,766) 

Change in assets and 
liabilities: 

       

Decrease/(increase) in 
receivables 

  57,121 100,419  26,154 235,122 

(Decrease)/increase in 
trade and other payables 

  18,865 (190,722)  121,780 129,978 

Net cash used in operating 
activities 

  (579,074) (877,543)  (502,381) (920,666) 
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   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
18. CASH FLOW STATEMENTS (Cont’d) 

 
(b) Acquisition of Entities        
During the 2008 year a 
reverse acquisition was 
deemed to have occurred. 
Details of this transaction are: 

  

     

Deemed Purchase consideration   - 10,201,646  - - 

Assets and liabilities held at 
acquisition date: 

  
 

    

Cash   - 3,271,163  - - 
Receivables   - 49,608  - - 
Investments   - 550,972  - - 
Other   - 12,046  - - 
Property, plant and equipment   - 42,253  - - 
Capitalised tenement expenditure   - 6,849,000  - - 
Payables   - (169,265)  - - 
Total purchase consideration   - 10,605,777  - - 
Less cash   - (3,271,163)  - - 
Net assets acquired   - 7,334,614  - - 
Gain on Acquisition   - (404,131)  - - 
Cash flow on acquisition net of cash 
acquired 

  
- 

3,271,163  - - 

Deemed  consideration   - 10,201,646  - - 
        

 
 
 

(c) Reconciliation of cash 
 

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand and in banks (refer to Note 6) 
 
19. COMMITMENTS 
 

(a) Exploration 
 

The Company has to perform minimum exploration work and expend minimum amounts of money 
on its tenements.  The overall expenditure requirement tends to be limited in the normal course of 
the Company's tenement portfolio management through expenditure exemption approvals and 
expenditure reductions through relinquishment of parts or the whole of tenements deemed non 
prospective.  
 
Should the Company wish to preserve interests in its current tenements the amount which may be 
required to be expended is as follows: 
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   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
19. COMMITMENTS (Cont’d) 

 
 

Not later than one year   1,453,585 2,105,070  1,372,585 1,571,370 
Later than one year but not 
later than five years 

  7,644,240 4,855,480  7,320,240 3,686,680 

Later than five years but not 
later than twenty one years 

  3,638,400 2,396,410  3,638,400 63,910 

    12,736,225 9,356,960  12,331,225 5,321,960 
 

The terms and conditions under which the Company has title to its various mining tenements oblige it to 
meet tenement rentals and minimum levels of exploration expenditure as gazetted by the Department of 
Industry and Resources of Western Australia, as well as Local Government rates and taxes. 
 
The "Later than five years but not later than twenty one years" component represents commitments of up 
to sixteen years in respect of mining licences which are granted for a period of twenty one years, but in 
common with prospecting licences and exploration licences may be relinquished or sold by the Company 
before the expiry of the full term of the licence. 

 
 
20. RELATED PARTIES  

 
(a) Key Management Personnel Disclosures 

 
The key management personnel for the Company during the year are set out as follows:- 
 
Directors 
 
M Kerr – Chairman and Non Executive Director 
D S Tyrwhitt – Non Executive Director 
M Elliott – Managing Director 
 
Other 
 
M Garbutt – Company Secretary 
 
The key management personnel compensation are as follows: 
 
 

   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
Short-term employee benefits   126,121 211,667  126,121 71,667 
Other long-term benefits   - 5,062  - - 
Post-employment benefits   - -  - - 
Termination benefits   - -  - - 
Share-based benefits   147,000 105,000  147,000 105,000 
   273,121 321,729  273,121 176,667 
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20. RELATED PARTIES (Cont’d) 
 

(b) Equity Holdings and Transactions 
 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each 
director of Hawthorn Resources Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including 
their personally related parties, are set out below: 

 
 

2009        
 Balance at 

start of year 
Granted as 
compensation 

Exercised Other changes Balance at 
end of the 
year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

Unvested 

Mark Kerr 14,428,000 - - - 14,428,000 14,428,000 -
Mark Elliott 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 5,000,000 -
D S Tyrwhitt - - - - - - -

 
 

 
2008        
 Balance at 

start of year 
Granted as 
compensation 

Exercised Other changes 
(i)_ 

Balance at 
end of the 
year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

Unvested 

Mark Kerr - 5,000,000 - 9,428,000 14,428,000 9,428,000 5,000,000
Mark Elliott - 5,000,000 - - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000
D S Tyrwhitt - - - - - - -
J I Gutnick 72,847,106 - - (72,847,106) - - -
M Z Gutnick 2,102,069 - - (2,102,069) - - -
P J Lee 2,516,000 - - (2,516,000) - - -
K Washburn 16,000 - - (16,000) - - -
   

 
Note (i) – Other changes relate to directors ceasing to be directors of or commencing as directors of Hawthorn 
Resources Limited 
 
 
 

Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Hawthorn Resources Limited 
 
 
2009 

 

Held at 1 July 
2008 
No. 

Granted as 
compensation 

No. 

Received on 
exercise of options 

No. 
Other change 

No. (i) Held at 30 June 2009  
Mark Kerr 109,300,906 - - (63,280,000) 46,020,906 
Mark Elliott 93,855,406 - - (83,855,406) 10,000,000 
D S Tyrwhitt - - - - - 

 
 
2008 

 

Held at 1 July 
2007 
No. 

Granted as 
compensation 

No. 

Received on 
exercise of options 

No. 
Other change 

No. (i) Held at 30 June 2008  
Mark Kerr - - - 109,300,906 109,300,906 
Mark Elliott - - - 93,855,406 93,855,406 
D S Tyrwhitt - - - - - 
J I Gutnick 65,893,110 - - (65,893,110) - 
M Z Gutnick 5,247,026 - - (5,247,026) - 
P J Lee - - - - - 
K Washburn - - - - - 
 
Note (i) – Other changes relate to directors ceasing to be directors of or commencing as directors of Hawthorn 
Resources Limited 
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20. RELATED PARTIES (Cont’d) 

 

(c) Other Key Management Personnel Transactions 
 

 The following Directors or former Directors of the Company were or are also directors of the following entities  
 

(i) Joseph Gutnick Chairman   Former   AXIS Consultants Pty Ltd  
  Peter Lee    Company Secretary Former   AXIS Consultants Pty Ltd  

  (ii)      Mark Kerr  Chairman  Current   Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd. 
      Mark Elliott  Managing Director  Current   Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd. 

 
   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
 Note  $ $  $ $ 

 
Details of transactions with 
AXIS Consultants Pty Ltd are 
as follows:At year end 

       

Receivable (current)   - -  - - 
Payable (current)   - -  - - 
During the year        
Fees for management 
services 

  - 432,039  - 432,039 

Fees for geological services   - 343,093  - 343,093 
Borrowing costs (receivable)   - (3,143)  - (3,143) 
Payments to AXIS   - (771,989)  - (771,989) 
         
(ii)      Details of transactions with Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd are as follows: 

At year end        
Receivable (current)   - -  - - 
Payable (current)   - -  - - 
During the year        
Fees for management 
services * 
Fees for fully serviced office 
and ancillary services * 

  192,013 
 

300,000 

49,957 
 

75,000 
 

 192,013 
 

300,000 

24,956 
 

75,000 

 

Up to 31 March 2008 the Company was, as in past years, managed by AXIS Consultants Pty Ltd (“AXIS Consultants”) 
pursuant to a Service Deed dated 25 November 1988. In accordance with the arrangement with AXIS Consultants, it 
provided company secretarial, finance, geology, exploration, IT and other services to the Company. As a result, the 
Company had no employees. 
 

The Company entered in to a service arrangement with Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd (“Berkeley Consultants”) 
effective from 1 April 2008 to replace the AXIS Consultants Pty Ltd agreed services described above, on substantially 
the same terms and conditions. 
 

Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd now provides to all group companies the services previously provided by AXIS 
Consultants Pty Ltd. Further information of the arrangements with Berkeley Consultants Pty Ltd is included in the 
Remuneration Report in the Directors’ Report.  

 
21. CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 
 

Name Country of 
Incorporation

Ordinary Share  
Consolidated Equity Interest

  2009 2008 
  % % 
Parent entity    
Hawthorn Resources Limited Australia   
    
Controlled entities    
Ellendale Resources Pty Limited Australia 100% 100% 
Sunderland Pty Ltd * Australia 100% 100% 
Northern Resources Australia Pty Ltd * Australia 100% 100% 
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- * Sunderland Pty Ltd and Northern Resources Australia Pty Ltd are 100% owned subsidiaries of 
Ellendale Resources Pty Limited. 
 

22. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group’s operations expose it to various financial risks including market, credit, liquidity and price 
risks.  Risk management programmes and policies are employed to mitigate the potential adverse effects 
of these exposures on the results of the Group. 
 

Financial risk management is carried out by the Board on a regular basis by reviewing current and 
potential sources of funding, cashflow and operating/capital expenditure forecasts, to manage market, 
credit, liquidity and price risk. 
 
(a) Market risk 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
 

Foreign currency risk is the risk of exposure to transactions that are denominated in a currency other than 
the Australian dollar.  
 

The Group’s operations are currently solely within Australia, and therefore are not exposed to any foreign 
exchange risk. 
 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk, is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market interest rates. 
 

The Group currently has minimal exposure to interest rate risk.  
 

As at the reporting date, the Group had no variable rate borrowings, as such the 2009 and 2008 reports 
would not be impacted by changes in interest rates. 
 

Fluctuations in interest rates will not have any material risk exposure to the cash held in bank deposits at 
variable rates. 
 
Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
 

The group’s Interest rate risk is deemed not to have a material effect on its loss after tax and equity and 
therefore no sensitivity analysis has been performed. 

 

 (b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is managed on a group basis.  Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with 
banks and financial institutions. For banks and financial institutions, only major Australian banking 
institutions are used.  For customers, individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in 
accordance with limits set by the Board. 
 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets 
as summarised on page 17.  The company does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single 
debtor or group of debtors under financial instruments entered into by the company. 

 
 (c) Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out 
market positions.  The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash 
flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  The Group aims at maintaining 
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available to meet the Groups needs. As at the 
reporting date, the group has no significant liquidity risk. 
 

          (d) Price Risk 
 

As the company does not derive revenue from sale of products, the effect on profit and equity as a result 
of changes in the price risk is not considered material. The fair value of the mining projects will be 
impacted by commodity price changes (predominantly iron ore, nickel and uranium) and could impact 
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future revenues once operational. However, management monitors current and projected commodity 
prices. 
 

22.   FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
(e) Maturities of Financial Liabilities 
 

The tables below analyse the Group’s and the parent entity’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.  The 
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 
Group – 30 June 2009 

   
Less than 3 

months 

 
3 months 
to 1 year 

 
1 - 5 years 

 
 5 + Years 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Non-Interest Bearing  (319,089) - - - (319,089)

 
Group 30 June 2008 

   
Less than 3 

months 

 
3 months 
to 1 year 

 
1 - 5 years 

 
5 + Years 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Non-Interest Bearing  (300,225) - - - (300,225)

 
Parent – 30 June 2009 

   
Less than 
3 months 

 
3 months 
to 1 year 

 
1 - 5 years 

 
5 + Years 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Non-Interest Bearing  (319,089) - - - (319,089)
Intercompany Advance  - (495,836) - - (495,836)

 
Parent – 30 June 2008 
   

Less than 
3 months 

 
3 months 
to 1 year 

 
1 – 5 years 

 
5 + Years 

 
Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Non-Interest Bearing 
Non Interest Bearing Loan 

 (197,309) 
- 

- 
- 

- 
(691,049)

- 
- 

(197,309) 
(691,049)

 
(f) Net Fair Values 

 
The net fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and 
measurement or for disclosure purposes. 
 
The carrying value at the balance date of financial assets and financial liabilities, such as receivables and 
payables, are assumed to approximate fair values due to their short term nature.For other financial 
assets, such as financial instruments traded in organised financial markets, fair value is the current quoted 
market bid price for an asset. 
 

23.  EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 
 
In August the Company has conducted an equity raising consisting of a Placement of shares at $0.007 a 
share to raise $400,000 together with the announcement of the establishment of a Share Purchase Plan 
offering to shareholders at an issue price of $0.0072 a share. The Plan was underwritten by BBY Limited 
to the extent of 116.5 million new shares at $0.0072 a share to raise a minimum of $838,800. The Plan 
offering closed on 15 September 2009 with shareholders having strongly supported the offering and 
having subscribed an aggregate of $2,234,781. As such, there was no shortfall on the underwritten 
amount. At an issue price of $0.0072 a share the number of new shares allotted totalled 310,386,210 
shares. 
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The funds raised under the SPP and Placement will be used to fund drilling programs planned on existing 
advanced projects, including 

-   Iron Ore – Mt Bevan, Central Yilgarn, West Australia 
-  Gold – High grade gold targets – Eastern Goldfield, West Australia 
-  Uranium – Clarke River Basin, Queensland 

 
24. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 
The auditor of Hawthorn Resources Limited is PKF. 

 
   Consolidated Company 
   2009 2008  2009 2008 
   $ $  $ $ 

     Amounts received or due and 
receivable by PKF for:     
       
An audit or review of the financial report 
of the Company and any other 
companies in the consolidated group 

38,000 50,000  38,000 50,000 

Other services in relation to the 
Company and any other companies in 
the consolidated group 
- Shareholder resolution poll 

- 1,500  - - 

Total fees paid 
 

38,000 51,500  38,000 50,000 

 
     Amounts received or due and 

receivable by non PKF audit firms for:     
       
An audit or review of the financial report 
of other companies in the consolidated 
group 

- 37,998  - - 

Total fees paid 
 

- 37,998  - - 
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION 
 
The directors of Hawthorn Resources Limited declare that: 
 
(a) in the directors’ opinion the financial statements and notes and the remuneration disclosures that are 

contained in the Remuneration report in the Directors’ Report are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 
30 June 2009 and of their performance, for the financial year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and Corporations Regulations 2001. 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in the 
notes and 

(c) the remuneration disclosures that are contained in the Remuneration report in the Directors’ report 
comply with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures, the Corporations Act 
2001 and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

 
The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2009, required by Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 
 
 
Dated at Melbourne  30th September 2009 
 

 
 
 
 
MARK KERR 
Chairman 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF HAWTHORN RESOURCES LIMITED 
 
Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Hawthorn Resources Limited, which comprises the balance sheet as at 
30 June 2009, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement for the year ended on that 
date, a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for both Hawthorn 
Resources Limited and the consolidated entity comprising Hawthorn Resources Limited and the entities it controlled at the 
year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001.  This 
responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.  In Note 1(c), the directors 
also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, that compliance 
with Australian Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report, comprising 
the financial statements and notes, complies with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Australian Auditing Standards.  These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is 
free from material misstatement. 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report.  
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial report, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
Independence 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 
Auditor’s Opinion 
In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Hawthorn Resources Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2009 and of their 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the 
Corporations Regulations 2001, and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1(c). 

Report on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 8 to 14 the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2009.  
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, 
based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 
Auditor’s Opinion 
In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Hawthorn Resources Limited for the year ended 30 June 2009, complies with 
section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 

PKF David Garvey 
 Partner 
30 September 2009 
Melbourne 
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TENEMENTS 
WHOLLY OWNED 
 
Deep South 
E 39/1299 
E 39/1300 
E 39/1301 
E 39/1302 
P 39/4704 
P 39/4705 
P 39/4706 
P 39/4707 
P 39/4709 
E 31/701 
M 31/360 (A) 
M 31/469 (A) 
 
Melita 
E 37/528 
E 37/543 
E 37/891 
E 40/112 
E 40/113 
E 40/138 
E 40/145 
E 40/184 
E 40/185 
E 40/215 
E 40/216 
E 40/217 
E 40/218 
E 40/219 
E 40/224 
E 40/226 
E 40/227 
M 40/297  
M 40/316  
P 37/7037 
P 37/7038 
P 37/7323 
P 37/7494 
P 37/7495 
P 40/1068 
P 40/1069 
P 40/1070 
P 40/1148 
P 40/1149 
P 40/1150 
P 40/1151 
P 40/1215 
P 40/1217 
P 40/1218 
P 40/1219 
P 40/1220 
P 40/1221 

P 40/1222 
P 40/1223 
P 40/1224 
P 40/1225 
P 40/1226 
P 40/1227 
P 40/1228 
P 40/1229 
P 40/1234 
P 40/1235 
P 40/1236 
P 40/1237 
P 40/1238 
P 40/1239 
P 40/1241 
 
Minerie 
E 39/911 
 
Mt Bevan 
E 29/510 
E 29/713 (A) 
 
Mt George 
E 37/536 
P 37/5775 
P 37/5776 
 
Murrin Murrin 
P 39/4861 
P 39/4862 
P 39/4863 
P 39/4864 
P 39/4865 
P 39/4866 
 
Pinjin 
E 31/613 
E 31/643 
E 31/659 
E 31/661 (A) 
E 31/760 
E 31/781 (A) 
E 31/782 
E 31/783 
M 31/358 (A) 
M 31/377 (A) 
M 31/441 
M 31/474 
P 31/1807 
P 31/1810 
P 31/1811 
P 31/1880 
P 31/1900 

P 31/1901 
P 31/1902 
P 31/1903 (A) 
P 31/1951 
P 31/1952 
P 31/1953 
 
Requiring 
Allocation 
E 36/473 
 
Savannah 
E 31/416 
E 31/454 
E 31/572 
E 31/693 
E 31/771 
E 39/1138 
E 39/1293 
E 39/1297 
P 31/1763 
P 39/4700 
P 39/4701 
P 39/4702 
P 39/4871 
 
Teutonic Bore 
E 37/902 
P 37/7351 
 
Triumph 
E 31/405 
E 31/414 
E 31/593 
E 31/700 
E 31/724 
E 31/774 
E 31/775 
E 31/778 
E 31/790 (A) 
E 31/792 
E 31/794 (A) 
E 39/715 
M 31/390 (A) 
M 31/443 (A) 
M 31/467 (A) 
P 31/1611 
P 31/1612 
P 31/1613 
P 31/1614 
P 31/1615 
P 31/1616 
P 31/1877 (A) 
P 31/1878 (A) 

P 31/1908 
P 31/1909 
P 31/1910 (A) 
P 31/1911 (A) 
P 31/1912 
P 31/1913 
 
Whiteheads  
E 27/352 
E 27/369 
P 27/1767 
P 27/1776 
P 27/1777 
P 27/1778 
P 27/1779 
P 27/1780 
P 27/1781 
P 27/1782 
P 27/1789 
P 27/1790 
P 27/1791 
P 27/1792 
P 27/1793 
P 27/1794 
P 27/1803 
P 27/1807 
P 27/1940 
P 31/1851 
P 31/1852 
 
Wild Dog Dam 
E 28/1397 
E 28/1517 
E 28/1564 
E 28/1565 
E 28/1742 
E 28/1743 (A) 
E 28/970 
M 28/198 (A) 
M 28/278 (A) 
P 28/1083 
P 28/1084 
P 28/1094 
P 28/1095 
P 28/1096 
P 28/1136 
P 28/1137 
P 28/1138 
P 28/1139 
 
Yerilla 
E 31/577 
E 31/578 
P 31/1835 

P 31/1836 
P 31/1837 
P 31/1838 
P 31/1839 
 
Yindana 
E 28/1519 
 
Yundamindera 
E 39/1046 
E 39/1292 
E 39/1350 
E 39/1351 
E 39/718 
E 39/895 
M 39/882 (A) 
M 39/883 (A) 
M 39/912 (A) 
P 39/4697 
P 39/4713 (A) 
P 39/4714 (A) 
P 39/4873 
P 39/4874 
P 39/4875 
P 39/4876 
 
 
TENEMENTS 
SUBJECT TO 
JOINT VENTURES 
 
Mt Carnage 
Northern 
Capital 
Resources 
Haw 1.5% NSR 
M 16/333 (A) 
M 24/629 (A) 
M 24/630 
P 24/4319 
P 24/4320 
P 24/4321 
P 24/4322 
P 24/4323 
P 24/4324 
P 24/4325 
P 24/4326 
P 24/4327 
P 24/4328 
P 24/4329 
P 24/4330 
P 24/4331 
P 24/4332 
P 24/4333 
P 24/4334 
P 24/4335 
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P 24/4336 
P 24/4337 
P 24/4338 
 
Deep South 
Edjudina - 
Pinjin JV Haw 
80%, Avoca 20% 
E 39/1298 
P 39/4703 
 
Pinjin 
Edjudina - 
Pinjin JV Haw 
80%, Avoca 20% 
E 31/789 
P 31/1875 
P 31/1876 
P 31/1881 
P 31/1882 
 
 
Savannah 
Edjudina - 
Pinjin JV Haw 
80%, Avoca 20% 
E 31/762 
E 31/763 (A) 
E 31/764 
E 31/765 
E 31/787 
P 31/1574 
P 31/1575 
P 31/1762 
P 31/1871 
P 31/1872 
P 31/1873 
P 31/1874 
P 31/1887 
P 31/1889 
P 31/1890 
P 31/1891 
P 31/1892 
 
Triumph 
Edjudina - 
Pinjin JV Haw 
80%, Avoca 20% 
E 31/766 
E 31/788 (A) 
M 31/429 (A) 
M 31/464 (A) 
P 31/1569 
P 31/1760 
P 31/1761 
P 31/1814 

P 31/1865 
P 31/1866 
P 31/1867 
P 31/1868 
P 31/1869 
P 31/1870 
P 31/1894 
P 31/1895 
P 31/1896 
 
Yundamindera 
Edjudina - 
Pinjin JV Haw 
80%, Avoca 20% 
E 39/1294 
E 39/1295 
P 39/4596 
P 39/4695 
P 39/4696 
P 39/4698 
P 39/4699 
P 39/4872 
 
Yindana 
Erayinia JV - 
HAW 30%, ABM 
Resources 70% 
E 28/1228 
E 28/1611 
E 28/1612 
 
Pinjin 
Foley Well JV, 
HAW earning 
70% 
E 31/851 (A) 
E 31/852 (A) 
M 31/327 (A) 
M 31/328 (A) 
M 31/377 (A) 
 
Kimberley 
Metals 
Kimberley JV - 
Thundelarra 
80%, HAW 20% 
E 80/2559 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Four Corners 
La Mancha 
Resources 

100%, HAW 
0.9% Nett 
Smelter Royalty 
E 29/133 
E 29/134 
E 29/415 
E 29/481 
E 30/245 
 
Wild Dog Dam 
Lake Rebecca 
JV – Newmont 
90%, HAW 10% 
Free Carry to 
DTM 
E 28/1143 
E 28/1633 
E 28/1635 
P 28/1057 
 
Pinjin 
Trouser Legs 
JV - HAW 70%, 
Gel Resources 
30% 
G 31/4 
L 31/32 
M 31/113 
M 31/284 
M 31/78 
M 31/79 
M 31/88 
 
Whiteheads JV - 
Quantum 80%, 
Haw 20% 
E 27/175 
E 27/348 
P 27/1612 
P 27/1769 
P 27/1770 
P 27/1771 
P 27/1772 
P 27/1773 
P 27/1783 
P 27/1784 
P 27/1785 
P 27/1786 
P 27/1802 
TENEMENTS 
HELD IN 
ELLENDALE 
RESOURCES NL  
 
Currans Well 
M 57/531 
M 57/532 

 
Mt Sarah  
Caldera 75%, 
Haw 25% 
EL 3924 
EL 3867 
 
Mt Carulina 
Caldera 50%, 
Haw 50% 
EL 3424 
  
TENEMENTS 
HELD IN 
NORTHERN 
RESOURCES 
AUSTRALIA PTY 
LTD 
 
Clarke River 
EPM14944 
EPM14946 
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HAWTHORN RESOURCES LIMITED    : Additional Shareholder Information-ASX Listing Rule 4.10. 
As at 12 OCTOBER 2009

SHARES :QUOTED - CODE: HAW
Twenty Largest Holdings : Ordinary Fully Paid Shares ASX Code HAW Number % Issued Ranking

Shares Held Shares
CONQUEST MINING LTD 65,600,000 4.30 1
JOJO ENTERPRISES PTY LTD <SFI FAMILY A/C> 45,142,857 2.96 2
J MOODY NOMINEES PTY LTD <THE MOODY SUPER FUND A/C> 41,112,500 2.69 3
MS SONIA LOUISE RITCHIE KENT 36,400,000 2.39 4
NEWMONT MINING FINANCE PTY LTD 34,984,291 2.29 5
JECTBURN PTY LTD 28,000,000 1.84 6
KARARI AUSTRALIA PTY LTD 26,000,000 1.70 7
MR MARK KERR & MRS LINDA KERR <LINDMARK STAFF SUPER A/C> 20,803,333 1.36 8
FORTIS CLEARING NOMINEES P/L <SETTLEMENT A/C> 17,171,114 1.13 9
NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED 15,855,335 1.04 10
DR LEON EUGENE PRETORIUS 15,000,000 0.98 11
MR PETER JOSEPH LEY 14,595,252 0.96 12
KAZAKCO PTY LIMITED <KENT FAMILY SUPER FUND A/C> 14,071,000 0.92 13
DECOLAND HOLDINGS PTY LIMITED <MEE SUPER FUND A/C> 12,083,333 0.79 14
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 12,019,721 0.79 15
MR TONY PHILIP HOMMELHOFF & MRS SUZANNE MARIE HOMMELHOFF 12,000,000 0.79 16
UBS WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 11,920,332 0.78 17
NEFCO NOMINEES PTY LTD 10,715,900 0.70 18
CADOGAN GROVE PTY LTD 10,290,433 0.67 19
MR GERRARD WILSON 10,000,000 0.66 20
 Total Holding- 20 Largest Shareholders 453,765,401        29.74       
 Total Holding- Other Shareholders 1,071,830,496     70.26       

 TOTAL HOLDING- ALL SHAREHOLDERS 1,525,595,897   100.00

VOTING RIGHTS
Shares : One vote per share.
Options No voting rights.

RANGE OF SHAREHOLDERS - CODE HAW
Range Holders Units %

1-1000 725                     265,340             0.02%
1001-5000 557                     1,481,895          0.10%
5001-10000 331                     2,503,607          0.16%
10001-100000 1,480                  71,165,342        4.66%
100001-OVER 1,444                  1,450,179,713   95.06%

4,537                1,525,595,897 100.00%

MARKETABLE PARCELS - SHARES
Holdings that are less than a marketable parcel of the Company's ordinary fully paid
shares as at 12 October 2009 at a closing price of 0.7 cents/share consisted of
a total of 42,158,6877 shares held by 2,738 holders each holding a parcel of 71,428  
or less shares.

BUY-BACK
The Company has not undertaken  any share buy-back during or since 
the end of the period under review.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS

As at 12 October 2009 no substantial shareholdings have been declared to the Company
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OPTIONS 
Exercise Dates : Each option may be exercised on the first day on which ADI's ( as defined in the Banking Act 1959(Cth)
are open for business in Melbourne Victoria (excluding Saturdays and Sundays ) in any month from the month in which
the option is granted to the date of its expiry (inclusive) or during the period of at least 7 business days before the record
date for determining participation in any bonus and/or cash issues. Option holders are referred to the terms and conditions
of each class of options for additional information.

OPTIONS : 30 APRIL 2012 - QUOTED - CODE: HAWO

Twenty Largest Holdings : APRIL 2012 Options ASX code HAWO Number % Issued Ranking
(expiring 30 April 2012 and exercisable at 20 cents each) Options Held Capital
MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA) NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <BERNDALE 
A/C>

4,550,000 33.53 1

FINDLAY & CO STOCKBROKERS PTY LTD <MAKO TREND A/C> 1,975,000 14.55 2
MR LESLIE VINCENT PEDDLE JOHNSON 850,000 6.26 3
MR PETER MICHAEL DASZKIEWICZ 800,000 5.90 4
MR MYLES SPICER 570,000 4.20 5
MR HIU FUNG LEE 400,000 2.95 6
RAGTRADERS INTERNATIONAL PTY LTD <THE YOONUS OMAR FAMILY A/C> 320,000 2.36 7
MR RAYMOND ALSTON 312,000 2.30 8
MR JOHN KEVIN SLOGGETT 268,403 1.98 9
MR HENRY MARI VANDERHAVE 265,000 1.95 10
MR RICHARD SCOTT THOMSON 250,000 1.84 11
MR FRANCESCO GANGEMI & MRS OLIVIA GANGEMI <THE F & O 
GANGEMI FAMILY A/C>

226,332 1.67 12

MR PHILIP RUSSELL HARRIS <HARRIS FAMILY A/C> 200,000 1.47 13
MR KANTI LAL & MRS KESHNI LAL 200,000 1.47 14
GEOVIZ PTY LTD <SIMON BROWN FAMILY A/C> 175,000 1.29 15
MISS JESSICA ROSLYN YOUNG 172,618 1.27 16
MR JENG FON CHEN & MRS YANG BOI CHEN <CHEN48 S/F A/C> 151,410 1.12 17
MR TREVOR GEORGE LUKES 150,000 1.11 18
JESALB PTY LTD 150,000 1.11 19
CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 147,800 1.09 20
Total Holding - 20 Largest Optionholders 12,133,563          89.42       
Total Holding - Other Optionholders 1,435,859            10.58       
TOTAL HOLDING - ALL OPTIONHOLDERS - HAWO 13,569,422          100.00     

RANGE OF OPTIONHOLDERS - HAWO                            
Range Holders Units %

1-1000 10                       5,940                0.04%
1001-5000 41                       152,374             1.12%
5001-10000 4                         28,400               0.21%
10001-100000 16                       1,006,506          7.42%
100001-OVER 22                       12,376,202        91.21%

93                     13,569,422      100.00%

OPTIONS : 22 SEPTEMBER  2010 - QUOTED - CODE: HAWOA

Twenty Largest Holdings : SEPTEMBER 2010 Options . ASX code HAWOA. Number % Issued Ranking
(expiring 22 September 2010 & exercisable at A$1.25 each.) Options Held Capital
MERRILL LYNCH (AUSTRALIA)     NOMINEES PTY LIMITED <BERNDALE 
A/C> 12,187,640          88.85 1
NASDAQ AUSTRALIA PTY LTD 320,734               2.34 2
MRS NECHAMA BENDET 174,580               1.27 3
MR NEIL ASH 124,420               0.91 4
HAZLAHA INVESTMENTS LIMITED 121,037               0.88 5
MR MORDECHAI GUTNICK 102,069               0.74 6
ABBOTSLEIGH PTY LTD 50,000                0.36 7
BALARGO PTY LTD 40,000                0.29 8
MR STUART NELKIN 40,000                0.29 9
MR IANAKI SEMERDZIEV 38,200                0.28 10
MR JOHN PEOS 35,000                0.26 11
MR BENJAMIN EISENBERGER & MRS SUSAN EISENBERGER 31,000                0.23 12
MS RIVKAH GUTNICK 30,092                0.22 13
GOLD STRATEGY PTY LTD 28,000                0.20 14
MISS YAN ZHENG 25,400                0.19 15
MRS JENNIFER GRACE HARRIS 22,000                0.16 16
DAVOON PTY LIMITED 21,800                0.16 17
MR CLIVE HARPER 20,537                0.15 18
MR BRENTON ROY WARD 20,000                0.15 19
J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA LIMITED 20,000                0.15 20
Total Holding - 20 Largest Optionholders 13,452,509 98.07
Total Holding - Other Optionholders 264,204 1.93
TOTAL HOLDING - ALL OPTIONHOLDERS - HAWOA 13,716,713 100.00

RANGE OF OPTIONHOLDERS- HAWOA                            
Range Holders Units %

1-1000 35                       13,170               0.10%
1001-5000 33                       81,412               0.59%
5001-10000 10                       81,900               0.60%
10001-100000 20                       509,751             3.72%
100001-OVER 6                         13,030,480        95.00%

104                   13,716,713      100.00%
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OPTIONS : 28 FEBRUARY 2013 - QUOTED - CODE: HAWOB

Twenty Largest Holdings : FEBRUARY 2013 Options . ASX code HAWOB. Number % Issued Ranking
(expiring 28 February 2013 & exercisable at 10 cents each.) Options Held Capital
MR FANG HUA DING 8,833,479 5.35 1
BERKELEY CONSULTANTS PTY LTD 6,928,000 4.20 2
MR CAMPBELL WALTER RODGERS 6,300,000 3.82 3
MRS AMBER ANNE RODGERS 5,850,000 3.54 4
H B K  MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 5,000,000 3.03 5
FORBAR CUSTODIANS LIMITED <FORSYTH BARR LTD-NOMINEE A/C> 4,613,867 2.79 6

UBS WEALTH MANAGEMENT AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD 4,525,333 2.74 7
WOODLANDS ASSET MANAGEMENT PTY LTD 4,500,000 2.73 8
MS LUSIA DING 3,600,000 2.18 9
DR ROSEMARY ELIZABETH ANNE GREEN 3,500,000 2.12 10
SSDG PTY LTD <SSDG SUPER FUND A/C> 3,000,000 1.82 11
GURRAVEMBI INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <SUPER FUND A/C> 2,750,000 1.67 12
MR STEPHEN TIMOTHY BIGGS 2,575,000 1.56 13
MR TERRY BEVAN <KIDS ACCOUNT A/C> 2,550,000 1.54 14
MR MARK KERR & MS LINDA KERR <LINDMARK INVESTMENTS STAFF   
SUPER FUND A/C>

2,500,000 1.51 15

MR DAVID ALAN SANDERS 2,400,000 1.45 16
MR STEVEN RAY BLAIR 2,076,983 1.26 17
MR ABRAHAM TUCKETT 2,000,000 1.21 18
MR BRENDAN BORG & MRS MARY BORG <BORG FAMILY S/F A/C> 2,000,000 1.21 19
GROSS FOUNDATION INC <SUPER FUND A/C> 1,795,474 1.09 20
Total Holding - 20 Largest Optionholders 77,298,136          46.82       
Total Holding - Other Optionholders 87,786,095          53.18       

TOTAL HOLDING - ALL OPTIONHOLDERS - HAWOB 165,084,231      100.00     

RANGE OF OPTIONHOLDERS - HAWOB                            
Range Holders Units %

1-1000 -                      -                    0.00%
1001-5000 7                         28,000               0.02%
5001-10000 27                       261,347             0.16%
10001-100000 90                       5,736,889          3.48%
100001-OVER 179                     159,057,995      96.35%

303                   165,084,231    100.00%

OPTIONS : 25 JANUARY 2018 - UNQUOTED

Twenty Largest Holdings: JANUARY 2018 Options . Unquoted Number % Issued Ranking
(expiring 25 January 2018 & exercisable at 10 cents each.) Options Held Capital

Mark E ELLIOTT 5,000,000            50.00% 1
Mark G KERR 5,000,000            50.00% 2

10,000,000         100.00%
These options were issued under the terms of the Company's Employee Share Option Plan 
and are as approved by shareholder resolution on 25 January 2008.

OPTIONS : 30 JUNE 2018 - UNQUOTED

Twenty Largest Holdings: JUNE 2018 Options . Unquoted Number % Issued Ranking
(expiring 30 June 2018 & exercisable at 10 cents each.) Options Held Capital

First Principle Mineral Exploration Company Pty Ltd 2,500,000            100.00% 1
2,500,000           100.00%

These options were issued under the terms of the Company's Employee Share Option Plan 
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